Council

kent.gov.uk

AGENDA

SELECT COMMITTEE - BUS TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC SUBSIDY

Tuesday, 25th October, 2016, at 10.00 am Ask for: Denise Fitch/Gaetano
Romagnuolo

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Telephone 03000 416090/ 416624

Maidstone

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room
Membership

Mr R A Marsh (Chairman), Mr M Baldock, Mr A H T Bowles, Mr C W Caller,
Mr | S Chittenden, Mr M J Harrison, Mr G Lymer, Mr B E MacDowall and Mrs J Whittle

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

10.00 Heath Williams, Managing Director, Arriva (Southern Counties)
10.45am (Pages 3 - 74)

11.00 Ruth Goudie, Senior Transportation Officer, Canterbury Quality
11.45am Bus Partnership (Pages 75 - 78)

12.00 Stephen Joseph, CEO, Campaign for Better Transport (Pages 79 -
12.45pm 98)

EXEMPT ITEMS

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel (Interim)
03000 416814

Friday 14 October 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 1

Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Heath Williams

Regional Managing Director for Arriva Southern Counties

Heath Williams is the Regional Managing Director for Arriva Southern Counties,
which operates about 750 vehicles and employs 2,000 staff at 12 depot locations
across Kent, Medway, Surrey, Essex and Hertfordshire.

Heath has been employed in the passenger transport industry since April 1984. He
has had gained considerable experience by running bus businesses in South Wales,
Lancashire, Hampshire, London and the South East.

Southern Counties is one of Arriva’s five UK bus operating businesses. Arriva is
owned by Deutsche Bahn and operates rail and bus services throughout the UK and
in 13 other countries in mainland Europe, where Arriva collectively employs some
60,000 staff.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 5
Tuesday 25 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that
Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Heath Williams, Regional Managing Director for Arriva Southern
Counties

e Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and
responsibilities of your post.

e Please provide an overview of Arriva’s operations in Kent. What are
Arriva’s roles and responsibilities in relation to the delivery of bus transport
in Kent?

e In your view, what are the key issues around the commercial and
subsidised bus network in Kent?

e Whatis, in your opinion, the role of public subsidy?
e What are the trends of the bus passenger market?

e In your view, what are the key issues around the Kent Young Person’s
Travel Pass — if any?

e Please discuss the extent of the impact of congestion in Kent.
e What is your view on the effectiveness of local Quality Bus Partnerships?
What are the key activities that, in your opinion, these partnerships should

focus on?

e In your view, what are the main challenges and opportunities associated
with the Bus Services Bill, if any?

e What can KCC do, if anything, to promote improved bus transport in Kent?
e Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the

Committee?

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



“The Impact of Congestion on
Bus Passengers”

Professor David Begg

Page 7



Foreword by Sir Peter Hendy
About the Author
Acknowledgements

Executive Summary

Table of contents
1.The need for this study
2. Methodology
a. Economic assumptions
b.Case studies
3. Research findings
a. Bus journey times are increasing
b.Impact on bus passengers
4.The challenge going forward
a. Congestion getting worse
b.Space wars
5.Recommendations: Five Point Plan
6. APPENDIX: Case studies

i
ii.
iii.
iv.
V.
Vi.

London
Edinburgh
Manchester
Bristol
Brighton
Hull

Page 8



About the Author

Professor David Begg is a former chairman of the Government's Commission
for Integrated Transport and was the chairman of the Transport Committee of
the City of Edinburgh Council when the radical Greenways bus priority
measures were introduced in the 1990s. He has been a board member of First
Group, Transport for Greater Manchester and Transport for London. He is
currently owner and proprietor of Transport Times, Chairman of EAMS, a non-
executive director of Heathrow Airport and Chairman of the Greener Journeys
Advisory Board. He is a visiting professor at Plymouth University.

Page 9



Acknowledgements

This report is dedicated to bus drivers and their passengers who suffer from the impact of
congestion on a daily basis.

| have been fortunate to have been able to discuss the economic analysis in this report with
some of the best transport economists in the UK: Professor Peter Mackie, Professor Peter
White and Professor Stephen Glaister. The final analysis is my own and any errors are
entirely down to me.

| have become immersed in bus timetables and observed the huge frustration bus operators
experience trying to run a punctual and reliable service in the face of worsening congestion.
Special thanks to Martin Dean (MD, Buses, Commerical Director, Go-Ahead), Les Warneford
(former MD, UK Bus, Stagecoach), Mark Yexley (MD, Buses, Arriva), Neil Barker (First
Group), Nigel Serafini (Head of Commerical & Business Development, Lothian Buses), James
Freeman (First Group),Peter Shipp( Chairman and Chief Executive,East Yorkshire Motor Ser-
vices) Mike Best (Brighton and Hove Bus Company) and Martin Harris (MD, Brighton and
Hove Bus Company).

They not only have supplied me with copious amounts of data, but they have educated me
further on the sector. Martin has gone out of his way to dig up archived bus timetables
stored at the Kithead Trust. | am indebted to Philip Kirk, who does a fantastic job looking
after this archive, which is such a rich source of information (www.kitheadtrust.org.uk).

Roger French, former MD of Brighton and Hove Buses has been an invaluable mentor for me
in this research. He has left a fantastic legacy in Brighton.

Leon Daniels (MD Surface Transport), Garrett Emerson (CEO, Surface Transport) and Ben
Plowden (Strategy & Planning Director, Surface Transport) from Transport for London have
ensured that the major challenge the capital is facing, with rising congestion and sharp
reductions in bus speed over the last few years, is accurately covered in this report. The new
mayor would be well advised to listen to their concerns!

Jon Lamonte and his colleagues from Transport for Greater Manchester, Rod Fawcett and
Mike Renshaw, have demonstrated to me in some detail the efforts they are making to
speed up bus journey time in the face of a proliferation in road works and a rapid growth in
city centre employment and demand for transport. They have been resolute in their policy
objective of expanding bus priority in the face of stern criticism from some local politicians.

Anthony Smith and his colleagues at Transport Focus have guided me and reinforced my
concern that congestion is the main challenge facing the sector. Joan Aitken has given me a
Traffic Commissioner’s view on the factors which are slowing up traffic in Edinburgh and
how it impinges on bus operations.

Page 10


http://www.kitheadtrust.org.uk/

David Brown (Group Chief Executive, Go-Ahead) and Giles Fearnley (Managing Director, First
Bus) have provided wise counsel as have David Leeder, Chris Cheek (TAS Partnership) and
Steven Salmon (CPT).

Vince Stops from London Travel Watch has been a passionate supporter of bus users in
London and kept me right on the capital and Marshall Poulton, former director of transport
at the City of Edinburgh Council, has been my go to man on Scotland’s capital.

Sir Peter Hendy has kindly written an insightful foreword. He may now be Chairman of
Network Rail but buses will always be in his DNA and he leaves behind him a fantastic legacy
from the his time 15 years at TFL, both as director of surface transport and subsequently
Transport Commissioner.

A big thanks to David Fowler and Kirsty Walton at Transport Times for making this report
read much better than it otherwise would and to Katie Allister for her vital contribution on
research and the case studies. It has been a pleasure to work with her again.

Page 11



Executive Summary

Traffic congestion is a cancer which if left unchecked will destroy the bus sector. | hesitate
to make such a dire and sensational prediction, but the evidence | have uncovered in this
research leads me to no other conclusion. On historical, current and future trends it’s a
guestion of when, not if. There is a distinct trend across our urban conurbations in the UK of
bus journey times rising by — on average — almost 1% per annum. Over the last 50 years, bus
journey times have increased by almost 50% in the more congested urban areas. If we had
protected bus passengers from the growth in congestion there would arguably be between
49% and 68% more farepaying bus passenger journeys today. If the trend is allowed to
continue, then our urban buses will no longer represent a viable mode of transport for the
majority of its customers and will be populated largely by people with mobility difficulties.
Already in London some buses on some routes run at close to walking speed.

The need for this study

Everyone in industry, local government and Whitehall knows we have a problem. Until now
it has not been properly quantified. | personally have been surprised at the true extent to
which congestion has been corrosive to the bus sector. It has been caught in the vortex of
three vicious downward spirals:

1. Slower speeds leading to higher costs, higher fares, fewer passengers, service
decline, fewer passengers.

2. Slower speeds leading to increased journey time, fewer passengers, service decline,
fewer passengers.

3. Slower speeds, punctuality and reliability decline, fewer passengers, service decline,
fewer passengers.

Bus operators are forced to respond to congestion in one of two ways. First, to try to
maintain service frequency. If they do this, then every 10% decrease in operating speeds
leads to an 8% increase in operating costs 1. If this is passed on to passengers through higher
fares it results in a 5.6% fall in patronage (DfT fares elasticity of 0.7)2.

The second response is to operate at lower frequency. A 10% deterioration in operating
speeds would lead to a 10% reduction in frequency and 5% fewer passengers (based on a
frequency elasticity of 0.5). A combination of the two responses is also likely. The end result
— whether it’s a greater peak vehicle requirement (PVR — the number of buses required to
operate the service) or reduced frequency, or a combination of both — is pretty much the
same in terms of patronage decline.

To the above we need to add the response passengers have to spending longer on board
buses. This would lead to a further 5% fall in passengers (because of an in-vehicle elasticity
of 0.5). The net result is a direct correlation between operating speeds and patronage: a

! The TAS Partnership:
2 DT elasticity

Page 12



10% decrease in speeds reduces patronage by at least 10%. | say at least because congestion
puts pressure on punctuality and reliability which can increase waiting time at bus stops.
Passengers place a value two to three times as high on waiting at a bus stop as they do for
in-vehicle time.

Chronic traffic congestion is not just a headache for passengers it’s also a nightmare for bus drivers.
It makes it much harder to attract the very best customer focused bus drivers into the industry, it
prevents bus drivers giving the best service they can to passengers, and those who are committed
and loyal often find the task so frustrating it encourages them to leave the industry - or not join in
the first place. Many bus companies are once again struggling to attract enough drivers and have
significant vacancies (especially in large conurbations)

London “falling”

Despite London Buses being one of the Capital’s transport success stories over the past 15
years, more recently bus speeds have been declining faster than anywhere in the UK. This
comes after decades of relative success in protecting bus passengers from traffic
congestion through effective bus priority measures, such as red routes and other initiatives,
and the central congestion charging zone introduced in 2003. If the average bus speed in
the UK’s congested urban areas has historically been decreasing by almost 1% p.a., then for
one-third of London bus routes the decline been more than five times this average over the
past year. This has become a crisis for the capital and something the new Mayor, Sadiq
Khan, must prioritise. London, which for more than a decade has been the UK'’s bus success
story, with passenger numbers doubling since the formation of TfL in 2000, is now facing the
fastest decline in bus use anywhere in the UK.

There is a key lesson we can learn from this. You can get all the other ingredients right:
modern bus fleet, cashless buses with the most advanced smartcard ticketing system in the
world, a level of integration which is the envy of other UK cities, state-of-the-art passenger
information at the bus stop and on mobile devices. Add to this population and employment
growth and you should have a recipe for the London bus success story continuing. But all
these laudable ingredients cannot offset the rapid deterioration in bus journey times.

TFL are facing swinging cuts to their revenue budget. London’s Public transport system is
expected to operate without any revenue subsidy by 2019, the only city in the world that is
required to meet this objective, with the exception of Hong Kong. The new Mayor has
committed to a fares freeze which raises the question who is going to pay for bus services in
London if its not coming from the taxpayer and passengers will not make up the difference
in higher fares. The solution is to operate buses more efficiently by improving their speed. If
London is to eliminate the £350 million per annum subsidy to its bus network then bus
speeds would have to improve by 24%.(reference this: been told orally by TFL surface
transport —waiting for email confirmation)

Former London Mayor Boris Johnson was right to warn that his successor will have to use
tougher congestion charging measures to tackle London’s growth in congestion, but it is a

Page 13



pity he did not take action on his watch. He exacerbated the problem by removing the
western extension of the congestion zone and by reducing road capacity in central London
by 25% through the introduction of cycle superhighways — without taking action to curtail
traffic in central London.

Why does it matter if bus journey times increase?

Slow buses are bad for our city economies. If the trend for bus journey times increasing by
almost 1% per annum continues we can expect to continue to lose access to around 5,000
jobs per year as a consequence. 3

Buses are vital to the health of local economies. More people commute by bus than all
other forms of public transport combined and those bus commuters generate £64bn in GDP.
Around 400,000 people are either in a better, more productive job, or only in a job at all, as
a result of the access the bus service provides. Buses are also the primary mode of access to
our city centres, facilitating 29% of city expenditure.

Slow buses are also bad for pollution. Fuel efficiency measured in kilometres per litre has
declined by 35% since 2000, and carbon dioxide emissions per bus km in urban conditions
have risen by 25%. While there are factors other than congestion driving this trend, such as
larger buses, stop-start conditions caused by congestion are a key factor. Under heavily
congested conditions, tailpipe emissions can be increased by a factor of three or four. #

What can we do about it?

The mantra from too many political decision-makers at local and national level is to give the
public “choice”. The problem is that in urban areas this means all road users have no choice
other than to put up with chronic traffic congestion which will continue to grow. The way
we run our road system in urban areas resembles the last remnant of a Stalinist state: we
regulate traffic volumes by congestion (queueing) in the same way the former Soviet Union
used to ration bread. It is bad for urban economies and their environment. Without road
pricing there is no solution to urban congestion.

We need to return to the ethos of the 1998 White Paper on Transport > which recognised
the necessity of changing travel behaviour and the importance of demand management. It
led to the London's congestion charging system and dedicated the revenue raised being
used mainly to improve bus services.

More cities need to follow the lead of London, with the implementation of congestion
charging, Nottingham, with its workplace parking levy, and Bristol, with essential car parking
restraint measures. All three cities have been prepared to use both the carrot (improved
sustainable transport) and the stick (car restraint). Public transport improvements on their
own are not a panacea for urban congestion. They have to be accompanied by traffic
restraint measures.

3 Daniel Johnson, Institute for Transport Studies, Leeds University

4 Environmental Factors in Intelligent Transport Systems, Prof Margaret Bell. IEE Proceedings: Intelligent
Transport Systems, Vol 153 Issue 2, 2006

5 A New Deal for Transport: Better for Everyone. White Paper, July 1998
www.persona.uk.com/bexhill/Core_docs/CD-05/CD-05-16.pdf

Page 14



If we can extend London-style cashless buses with contactless payment and smart ticketing
to the rest of the UK, we could improve bus journey times by up to 10% by halving dwell
time at bus stops. In urban conditions dwell time makes up between 25% and 33% of total
journey time. The big five bus operators in the UK have set a target to introduce contactless
bus transactions by 2022. They should do everything possible to accelerate this, and it is
realistic for them to achieve this goal in the large conurbations within three years.

The Buses Bill should set out guidance encouraging local authorities and bus operators to
set targets for average bus speeds. The minimum requirement should be for bus speeds to
stop declining. Local authorities need to give priority on roads and at junctions to buses.

Edinburgh is one of the few cities in the UK to have bucked the trend in falling bus speeds,
at least for a decade. Between 1986 and 1996, scheduled bus speeds increased by 5% as a
result of better conventional bus priority culminating in the radical Greenways bus priority
scheme. However, this legacy has been allowed to dissipate through weaker enforcement, a
trial on removing bus priority during off-peak periods, and a failure to paint the lanes green
and properly maintain them. As a result, in the last 20 years Edinburgh has reverted to the
UK norm with bus speeds declining by 20%.

Space wars: political decision-making

Too little focus is placed on the importance of the bus because bus passengers carry too
little weight with opinion-formers and political decision-makers. The socio-economic profile
of bus passengers is very different from rail users, motorists and cyclists, with a much higher
percentage of those on lower income travelling by bus. It helps to explain why fuel duty has
been frozen for six consecutive years despite rock bottom oil prices: the motoring lobby is
powerful. Cheaper fuel reduces the competitive position of the bus versus the car. It also
explains why rail has won £38bn investment up until 2019.

We need more bus champions in the UK in local, devolved and central government. The bus
is the most efficient user of road space, crucial for the health of our city economies and a
vital part of an environmentally-friendly local sustainable transport system.

Bus companies need to get better at communicating with their customers to keep them
better informed. This would also help them to mobilise support from their customers for
pro-bus measures such as bus priority. At present, it would be a rare event for a bus
passenger to lobby politicians for improved bus priority; it’s much more common for non-
bus users to complain about priority measures. Local politicians who are making brave
decisions to allocate road space for bus passengers need as much support as they can get
from their local bus companies as well as their customers.

A sensible balance needs to be struck between making our cities pedestrian-friendly and
ensuring that bus passengers can get close to their destination. It’s important to remember
that shopping is the purpose of around one-third of bus journeys in the UK, and bus users
spend an estimated £27bn on shopping and leisure. The more accommodating city centres
are to pedestrians, the more attractive they become to retail and businesses generally. Bus
routes radiate from the city centre: the more people travel to our city centres, the more

Page 15



populated our buses are. City retail faces stern competition from out of town shopping
centres and a newer threat which is growing exponentially, that of — online shopping. Bus
companies are often the first to protest about pedestrianisation, but it would serve them
well to acknowledge that city retail is facing a major battle to hold on to customers. The
viability of city centre retail and bus companies are inextricably linked.

Page 16



1. The need for this study

We have a good deal of evidence of the impact traffic congestion has had on the economy.
The Cabinet Office has calculated the cost of congestion to the urban economy to be at least
£11bn per annum, while the costs to society of poor air quality, ill health, and road
accidents in urban areas are each similar to congestion, exceeding £40bn ©.

However, there has been little research on the impact rising congestion has had on the bus
sector and consequentially our city economies and their environment.

The bus sector has been hit the hardest by congestion. Bus operators often cite congestion
as a major factor in their failure to hit punctuality targets, but there is little documented
evidence of the link between congestion, rising operating costs, fares and disappointing
patronage figures. Motorists and freight and delivery drivers are able to view congestion hot
spots on satnav and take alternative routes. This is not an option for bus drivers.

When | started my research for this report | knew that growing urban congestion was a
serious problem facing the UK bus sector, but it was only after some detailed analysis that |
appreciated just how acute and crippling the problem is. It is a cancer, and if left unchecked
will kill the sector.

There is a debate to be had about the merits of bus regulation versus deregulation. This is
not something which this research is concerned with. Traffic congestion had an adverse
impact on bus passengers prior to the 1986 Transport Act and the advent of de regulation; it
has impacted on them since and will remain a major problem in any future franchise regime.
It is becoming such an acute problem in London that there has been a marked reversal in
the upward trend in patronage.

This paper analyses one of the most potent headwinds facing the bus sector: traffic
congestion. It ranks as one of the top three most powerful headwinds that have held the
bus sector back, the other two being rising car ownership (car-owning households make
66% fewer bus trips per annum than non car owning households) and the migration of retail
and business to out of town locations built around car access. In more recent times these
trends have been exacerbated by online shopping and the advent of Uber.

In London bus speeds on some routes are close to walking pace and if we allow this trend to
continue it will eventually only be those with mobility difficulties who travel by bus.

This report attempts to quantify what the growth in patronage would have been if bus
journey times had remained constant over the last 50 years, using elasticity analysis
(elasticity is a means of quantifying how demand for a service changes in response to
changes in fares, frequency and in vehicle time) It will estimate the impact the growth in
journey times has had on our city economies and their environment. It will look at what

6 An Analysis of Urban Transport, Cabinet Office Strategy Unit, November 2009.
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/308292/urbantransporta
nalysis.pdf

Page 17



policies we need to implement to reverse this debilitating downward spiral of rising
congestion, higher costs, higher fares, and fewer passengers. It will look at what operators
can do to improve fare transaction times and reduce dwell time at bus stops.

There are many factors outside the scope of this study which can explain why rail patronage
has doubled over the last 20 years while bus patronage (outside London) has been
disappointing in comparison. The graph below shows the trend in average speeds in urban
areas for the different modes. Urban rail, walking and cycling have remained fairly stable
over the last 50 years; car speeds have declined. But it’s the fall in bus speeds which has
been most marked, with an average decline of almost 50%.

In the mid 1970s bus speeds became slower than cycling and the gap has widened since. On
current trends average urban bus speeds will slower than walking in 60 years’ time. The
speed of the number 11 bus in London is already down to 4 mph for part of its route 7.
Urban traffic congestion is becoming worse with each passing decade.

Urban Speeds

35

30

25
\ —\Walking
20

\ —Car

=
o
£ Bus
15
= Cycling
=== | J rhan Rail
10
5
0

1966 2016

Bus speeds have been declining faster than any other mode of transport. Urban rail, walking and
cycling have remained fairly static but urban car speeds have been declining, but not as fast as bus.

7 Number 11 bus speed

Page 18



The bar chart below shows that public transport has made a comeback over the last 20
years, but it has been rail rather than bus which has been achieving modal shift from the
car. This is the result of many factors: innovation in the rail industry, especially in marketing
and ticketing; the advent of wi-fi, which makes it more attractive to travel by train; and the
cost of motoring relative to rail fares to mention just three. Congestion is undoubtedly a key
reason. Traffic congestion is the friend of the railways but the enemy of the bus. This report
highlights just how corrosive congestion is to bus patronage, and this research has given it a
much higher weighting in my opinion when ranking the factors which explain modal split
trends.

If we are to emulate the success in rail, and achieve modal shift from car to bus, then we
have to protect bus passengers from congestion.

UK Passenger Transport - Modal Share of
Passenger Kilometres (%)
120
100
80
Other
60 ™ Rail
H Bus
40 W Car
20
0
1952 1962 1972 1982 1992 2002 2012

Source: Lazarus Partnership: Public Transport — Smartening up: Technology’s role in modal
shift, September 2014

Why it matters — the economy

Buses are crucial for the wider economy. More people commute to work by bus (2.5 million
daily plus 1 million as vital back up) than all other forms of public transport combined, and
they generate £64bn in economic output every year. Buses are the primary mode of access
to our city centres — even more than the car — and responsible for facilitating 29% of city
centre expenditure.

One in ten bus commuters would be forced to look for another job or give up work all
together if they could no longer commute by bus. Around 400,000 people are in a better,
more productive job, as a direct result of the access the bus service provides. It has been
estimated that if bus journey times for commuters in England could be improved by 10% it

Page 19



would be associated with over 50,000 more people in employment 2. If this 1% p.a. increase
in journey times continues we can expect to continue to lose around 5,000 jobs annually as
a consequence

There is also a direct impact on jobs. Around 90,000 of the 140,000 or so active holders of
passenger-carrying vehicle (PCV) licences are engaged in driving local buses. A 50% increase
in passengers would require 12.5% more drivers, or 11,250 new jobs (appendix 3). This
direct employment impact underestimates the true figure as it doesn’t include the extra
jobs that would be created in the supply chain.

Environmental impact of slower speeds

Lower operating speeds are bad for pollution. Fuel efficiency measured in kilometres per
litre has declined by 35% since 2000 °.

Congestion dramatically increases carbon dioxide emissions from vehicles. Under heavily
congested conditions tailpipe emissions can be increased a factor of three or four 1°,

8 Daniel Johnson, Peter Mackie and Jeremy Shires: Buses and the Economy I

Institute for Transport Studies, University of Leeds, July 2014

http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-
content/uploads/2014/07/Buses_and_the_Economy_Il_main_report_july.pdf

9 Prof Peter White, University of Westminster: Impact of bus priorities and busways on energy efficiency and
emissions. Greener Journeys [September 2015 ]

10 Environmental Factors in Intelligent Transport Systems, Prof Margaret Bell. IEE Proceedings: Intelligent
Transport Systems, Vol 153 Issue 2, 2006

Page 20



2. Methodology

a. Economic assumptions

The assumptions made on elasticities are critical to the assessment of what impact declining
bus speeds have on patronage. | have been fortunate to have had some of the best
transport economists in the UK guiding me and there are some differences of opinion on
elasticity. This is especially true for long-run elasticities. This study is looking at a 50-year
period and this very long run period results in higher elasticity levels than short or medium
term ones.

An elasticity which I’'m confident in using is the 0.8 ratio between speed and operating costs.
This is accepted by academics and bus operators (ref- TAS) 1. | then made the assumption
that increases in operating costs were passed onto the fare box — in reality this would vary
depending on market conditions. However, someone has to pay for higher costs and in the
long run it’s a reasonable assumption to make.

Traffic congestion has three distinct impacts on bus use:
1. Higher operating costs and higher fares.
2. Higher in-vehicle time
3. Deteriorating punctuality and reliability

| have looked at a low and a high scenario on elasticities (see Table 1):

Low High
Speed/operating cost 0.8 0.8
Fares/price elasticity 0.7 1.0
Fares impact 0.8x0.7=0.56 0.8x1=0.8
In —Vehicle time. 0.4 0.5
Punctuality/reliability. 0 0.1
Total 0.96 1.4

11 The TAS Partnership:

Page 21




High Elasticity Scenario

Buses 10% slower every decade




Low Elasticity Scenario

Buses 10% slower every decade




In the low elasticity scenario | have deployed a DfT fares elasticity of 0.7 and the low range
of the in-vehicle time (TRL 2004 0.4 to 0.7)!?, and because of the difficulty in estimating
negative impacts on punctuality and reliability | have given this a zero value.

In the high elasticity scenario ( some of my fellow transport economist’s have suggested
this should be labelled “medium”) | have gone for a fares elasticity of 1.0. The long run fares
elasticity varies between 0.7 and 1.2 (TRL, 2004). | have gone for a modest estimate of 1.0
so as not to over egg it. | have built in an estimate for punctuality/reliability in the high
elasticity scenario of 0.1. | felt it was important to do this as waiting at a bus stop is valued
twice as high as in-vehicle waiting time (ref: TRL, 2004). For in vehicle time | have used 0.5 in
the high elasticity scenario, well below the high end of the range(0.7)

In short , my aggregate high elasticity scenario is 1.4. If | wanted to lean towards the top end
of the range it would have been 1.8. | have judged that this is too high.

The above elasticities area an average and would obviously vary depending on what
alternative modes of transport were affordable and available. In London, for example, bus
patronage has declined by 5% over the last year, partly because for many — particularly
those travelling on the north side of the Thames — there is an extensive Tube network which
they can switch to. The better the alternatives available the higher the fares and in-vehicle
time elasticity.

Concessionary travel accounts for around one-third of bus trips in the UK. Concessionary
travellers are immune from the fares effect of higher operating costs, but they will be
affected by higher in-vehicle times and poorer punctuality and reliability. However, because
this is too challenging to calculate | have excluded it from the model and focused on
changes to fare-paying journeys only.

12 The demand for public transport: a practical guide. R Balcombe (ed), TRL Report TRL 593, 2004

Page 24



Stagecoach West

10000
9000
8000
7000
6000
5000
4000 -
3000 -
2000 -
1000 -

0 .

> x » o A Gl ) N "
qf) %P &P 69 GP &P %9 d& s? QP
L S R D R R

Year

Lost miles due to congestion

*based on first 11 periods grossed up.

The chart above shows lost miles due to congestion on Stagecoach West services between
2002 and 2016. Lost mileage is defined as scheduled miles minus operating miles; it can be
divided into traffic lost miles (for example delays caused by congestion) and operating lost
miles (for example caused by driver shortages and vehicle breakdown).

The chart shows a threefold increase in lost miles due to congestion. This results in a much
less punctual and reliable service. | have only included the impact of this on bus use in the
high elasticity scenario with a very low 0.1 elasticity. While it is difficult to quantify in the
model, in reality lost miles on this scale create havoc with the timetable and erode
passengers’ confidence in the service.

How bus operators react to congestion

Bus operators either try and maintain frequencies, which means more buses (a greater peak
vehicle requirement), or they let frequencies decline. The end result is pretty similar in the
economic model used to forecast patronage impacts. If they deploy more buses then
operating costs will rise by 0.8%. for every 1% decline in speed. This reduces patronage by
0.56% in the low elasticity scenario (0.8 x 0.7 = 0.56%).

If they decide to reduce frequency then we get a 0.5% reduction in patronage using a

frequency/ supply elasticity of 0.5. In reality a bus operator’s response will depend on local
market conditions and often will be a combination of the two reactions mentioned above.

Page 25



In areas where there is day-long congestion, operators are forced to increase resources to
maintain the same level of service, or look at widening headways or removing sections of
route in order to implement an achievable timetable.

If the operator response to congestion is to operate with the same level of resources at
lower frequency, in effect there is no change to variable driver or vehicle costs. Fewer miles
are operated with the same number of buses and driver hours but using less fuel and tyre
costs. This would reduce costs by 1.6% for each 10% reduction in miles, but a 10% reduction
in frequency and miles might result in 5% reduction in passengers and revenue (short run
supply elasticity 0.5).

If the operator response to congestion is to operate additional buses to maintain the same
service frequency this would increase driver, fuel, tyre, and vehicle costs (depreciation,
lease, licences) and maintenance costs (labour and materials). Stagecoach has calculated
that this would increase costs by 7.9% for each 10% increase in resources — very similar to
the TAS industry average calculation of 0.8% increase in operating cost for each 1% decline
in operating speed.!3

The difficult judgement for an operator faced with worsening punctuality is whether to
reduce frequency and risk patronage loss, or to maintain frequency with increased
resources. On balance it is unlikely that operating at the same frequency, albeit more
punctually, will generate sufficient additional revenue to offset the additional costs unless
there are other factors generating patronage growth.

13 Cost issues in public transport operation, CfiT, January 2008
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110304132839/http://cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/2008/index
.htm

Page 26



Bus use is influenced by a number of factors—these not only BT
relate to the bus service itself, but the supporting infrastructure
and the attractiveness of other modes j Buses |

Attribute Evidence of impact’

Fares

Journey time
Service levels
Ride quality .
Real-time information  *
Safety

Waiting environment
Interchange

Car costs .

Income

Bus fare elasticities average -0.4 in the short-run to -1.0 in the fong run (1.9, a 10% rise in fares will lead to a 10% 4l in
patronage in tha long run) - responsivenass of demand 10 fare changes 15 1085 sensitive n the peak

* The elasticty of bus demand 1o in-vehicle time for urban buses has been estimated % be roughly in the range of 0.4 10 0.6

* The elasticty of bus demand to vehicle kilometres is approximately +0.4 in the short.run and +0.7 in the long run

Studies in London have indicated that 8 smooth vehicie mobon is worth 10 5p per passanger (1996 pnces and values)
Passengers in London vakied countdown boards at 9.0p per trip (1996 prices and values)

* Bus users value CCTV at stops and on the bus at 16.6p and 5.8p respectively (2001 prices and values)
*  The provision of information at bus stops has been valued at 4-10p per passenger
* Passengers distke having to interchange - the ‘penalty’ associated with the need 1o interchange is equivalent 1o 5 minute

oumaey time even bedore wating tme and the cost of an addacnal fare Is faciored in

Bus use Is sensitive 1o changes in the costs of fuel. A 10% fall in petrol costs for motorsts Is estimated to reduce bus demand
by 21%

* Each 10% increase in income reduces bus use by 5%-10%, this indudes the mpact of higher car ownership

Policy implication: there are a number of ways to influence the level of bus demand — the list above is not exclusive; and
thesa interventions do not just relate to bus service attributes—interventions off the bus, such as an improved waiting
environment and better information, can have a significant impact on demand

(%) TRL, 2004) The demand for pubic tramapart: @ pracscal geide

104

The above table showing the top ten factors influencing bus use, the top three on the list are

affected by congestion:

fares, journey time and frequency. Source: An Analysis of Urban Transport,

Cabinet Office Strategy Unit, November 2009

Page 27



b. Case studies

The UK has the most congested road network in Europe!*. This was the case when the
Commission for Integrated Transport benchmarked the UK against European best practice in
2001 and has been confirmed since by extensive data from companies such as TomTom and
INRIX through the monitoring of live traffic flows.

The latest TomTom congestion index shows seven UK cities in Europe’s top 30 most
congested: Belfast, London, Manchester, Edinburgh, Brighton, Hull and Bristol. Congestion
in the UK’s biggest cities is 14% worse than it was just five years ago.

Across the rest of Europe, average congestion is actually 3% down over the same period.

The annual Traffic Index from TomTom shows average UK journeys in 2015 took 29% longer
than they would in free-flowing conditions — up from a 25% delay in 2010.

The TomTom index measures the difference between off-peak and peak traffic speeds. As
Belfast has relatively good off-peak speeds compared with other cities this exaggerates ITS
congestion problem. Intuitively, based on personal observation and experience, | do not
believe Belfast has a worse congestion problem than London, or indeed the other UK cities. |
have therefore used a combination of INRIX and TomTom data to determine the cities that |
would scrutinise in this report.

The INRIX data has Belfast as the third most congested city in the UK, behind London and
Manchester. The INRIX index measures urban motorway traffic delays, so would exclude
Edinburgh and Brighton, which are mainly devoid of urban motorways.

Balancing the two indexes | have included the following cities in the case studies: London,
Manchester, Edinburgh, Brighton, Hull and Bristol. Due to difficulty in obtaining bus journey
time data from Belfast | have not included it in the study.

14 European best practice in delivering integrated transport. Commission for Integrated Transport, November
2001

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110304132839/http://cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/2001/index
.htm

Page 28



3. Research findings

a. Bus journey times are increasing

The trend in bus journey times is for them to increase by between 0.5% and 1.5% per-
annum - for city wide services (daily average) over the past 30 years, with an average
increase of 0.98% per annum for the six case studies as shown in Fig xx.

Increasein Journey Time
1.6
1.4
1.2
1
x
o 0.8
a
0.6
0.4
0.2
0]
Brighton London Hull Manchester  Bristol Edinburgh  Average
Cities

[notes to chart]
Fig 0.98% Increase in average bus journey times.
Data covers 1986-2006 except for:

Brighton: 2008-2016. The south coast town has experienced a sharp increase in congestion
levels .

London: 2003/4 (from peak levels just after congestion charging) to 2015/16. It covers
central, inner and outer London

Page 29



Percentage Increase

Increasein journey time on selected services (am
peak) from 1966 to 2016

100
90 -
80 -
70 -
60 -
50 -
40 -
30 -
20 -
10 -
0 _
London: Service Gloucesterto Manchester: Edinburgh: Edinburgh: Manchester: Average
25 Stratford to  Cheltenham Service 82 (now Service 23. Service 24. Service 41
Oxford Circus 83)0ldham Morningsideto Silverknowesto Rusholme to
Market Place to Trinity City Centre  Royal Exchange
Paccadilly
Services

The data in the bar chart above is derived from archived timetables for 1966 and compares journey
times then, with a section of the same route from today’s timetable. Journey time on the 25 from
Stratford to Oxford Circus in the a.m. peak has increased from 40 minutes in 1966 to 78 minutes
today. The journey time has almost doubled. We have to bear in mind that the move to one man
operated buses impacts negatively on journey times for the longer term data going back to the
1960’s.

Decline in bus speeds not confined to urban conurbations.

While this research has focused on the trend in bus speeds in the six most congested urban
areas in the UK the problem is not confined to them. If market towns such as Cheltenham
and Gloucester are representative then the trend is much more endemic!

Page 30




Cheltenham - Gloucester (Peak)

Average Journey Time in Minutes
I
Q

1990 2000 2007 2016

Year

87% increase in journey time. 3.34% increase p.a. Stagecoach data.

Page 31



It doesn’t have to be this way. We can protect bus passengers from traffic congestion if there is the
political will. Indeed, the example below shows how we can improve journey times by bus if radical

action is taken.

Edinburgh: % Change in Average Journey Time
(am peak)

%Change

0 -
s o 1996 2016

Years

In Edinburgh, the introduction of Greenways bus priority in 1996, following years of good
conventional priority measures, resulted in a 4% improvement in journey times between
1986 and 1996. Alas, for reasons you can read about in more depth in the case study on
Edinburgh in the appendix, this was not sustained: weaker enforcement, removal of priority

during off peak and lack of maintenance of bus lanes.

Page 32



Brighton: Peacehaven to Brighton Station

w
3]

w
=
|

W
o
|

]
W
|

]
co
|

3]
~J
|

]
(=]
|

]
w
|

Average Journey Time in Minutes

N
=
I

]
w
|

1976 (Service 12} 2016 (Service (12X)
Year

In Brighton, on the Peacehaven to Brighton Station service, there has been a 16%
improvement in journey time since 1976 and a 4% improvement per annum thanks to highly
effective bus lanes along the A259 coastal corridor. Journey time between Brighton Station
and Peacehaven is actually seven minutes less today than it was in 1966. It shows what can
be done and how we do not have to accept declining bus speeds as being inevitable.

Page 33



b. Impact of increased journey times on bus use

If average bus speeds in the most congested urban areas decline on average by almost 1%
per annum, this means that operating costs due to congestion are increasing by around
0.8%%°. Assuming that costs are passed on to the passenger in fares, and we apply an
elasticity of 0.7, this results in a 0.56% decline in passengers every year as a result of the
operating cost impact. To this we need to add the decline in passenger numbers due to
increased in-vehicle waiting time. With an in-vehicle elasticity of 0.5, this leads to a 0.5%
decline in passengers. If we add the two together we get an 10.6% decline in passengers
every decade from the congestion impact on buses on the low elasticity scenario. On the
high elasticity scenario we get a 14% decline in bus use every decade as a result of
congestion. If we had protected bus passengers from rising congestion over the past 50
years, then fare-paying patronage in the cities covered in this report would be at least 50%
higher than today’s figure. | have chosen this time period as the mid-1960s is when car
ownership and traffic began to grow exponentially.

London “falling”

In London bus speeds have been declining faster than anywhere in the UK over the last few
years. This comes after of decades of relative success in protecting bus passengers from
traffic congestion through effective bus priority measures, such as red routes and other
initiatives, and the central congestion charging zone introduced in 2003. If the average
urban bus speed in the UK has historically been decreasing by almost 1% p.a., then for one-
third of London bus routes the decline been more than five times this average over the past
year. This has become a crisis for the capital and something the new mayor must prioritise.
London, which for more than a decade has been the UK’s bus success story, with passenger
numbers doubling since the formation of TfL in 2000, is now facing one of the fastest
declines in bus use anywhere in the UK.

There is a key lesson we can learn from this. You can get all the other ingredients right:
modern bus fleet, cashless buses with the most advanced smartcard ticketing system in the
world, a level of integration which is the envy of other UK cities, state-of-the-art passenger
information at the bus stop and on mobile devices. Add to this population and employment
growth and you should have a recipe for the London bus success story continuing. But all
these laudable ingredients cannot offset the rapid deterioration in bus journey times.

Boris Johnson was right to warn that his successor will have to use tougher congestion
charging measures to tackle London’s growth in congestion, but it’s a pity he did not take
action on his watch. He exacerbated the problem by removing the western extension of the
congestion zone and by reducing road capacity in central London by 25% through the
introduction of cycle superhighways — without taking action to curtail traffic in central
London.

15 The TAS Partnership, [1] op. cit

Page 34



Annual Percentage Change in Bus Journeys

10

Bus use in London

]II'--I

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12

1 3 13/14 14/15

1

Year

Page 35




4. The challenges going forward

a. Congestion is getting worse

The average speed of general traffic on local roads was 23.4mph in year ending December
2015. In November 2015 it was 3% slower than in November the previous year, and in De-
cember 2015 it was 2.9% slower than the previous December.

The average traffic speed in Bristol, Reading, Slough, Manchester and London is less than
10mph.

The DfT’s 2015 forecast was that traffic will grow by between 19% and 55% between 2010
and 2040.

Congestion on local authority managed A-Roads, England

Average vehicle speeds (miles per hour)
28

27

. ok

2

2

_—é
<
-<

23 V-V

22
Jul-07 Sep-08 Oct-09 Nov-10 Dec-11 Jan-13 Feb-14 Mar-15

Page 36



There has been a rapid decline in traffic speed over the last five years on A-roads, as shown
in Fig zz. The key causes in urban areas are: delivery vans, private hire vehicles, road works
and traffic lights.

Delivery vans

The rapid growth in delivery vans is a result of the proliferation of online shopping. This
represents a double blow to the bus sector: first, it increases operating costs due to more
congested roads, and second, there is less revenue for buses as fewer shopping trips are
made (shoppers account one-third of all bus journeys).

Growth of LGV and HGV Traffic

120 Index 2004=100
115
110
105
100

95

90

80
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Van traffic has risen faster than that of any other vehicle type, with van miles increasing by
6.1% between Dec 2014 and Dec 2015 to a new peak of 47.7 billion vehicle miles. This
represents a 24% increase compared with 10 years ago and a 73% increase compared with
20 years ago.

The biggest four online shopping markets in the world are predicted to double in size over
the next three years as consumers buy increasing amounts of goods through the internet.

British shoppers already spend almost £1 in every £5 of their shopping via the internet and
the online shopping revolution will continue.

Online retail expenditure in the UK is forecast to grow by 44.9% in the coming five years to
reach £62.7bn in 2020.

Page 37



il
M )

It is surprising that more household parcels are not delivered in the evening when the roads
are quieter and people are more likely to be at home. The proliferation in the number of
vans is becoming such a problem that it is worth investigating the impact a charging scheme
could have to incentivise deliveries off-peak, especially during the evening.

Growth in Private Hire Vehicles

Private hire vehicle numbers have risen by almost 28% in the last ten years, from 120,000 in
2005 to 166,000 in 2015.

e In England outside London the number of PHVs rose by 4.5% between 2013 and 2015.

Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles by Type and Area: England 2015

Page 38



250 Change from
2013 to 2015

o PHVs England
E 200 0 outside London
g 4.7%

E=

150

2

o

= ‘) PHVs London

E 100 25.9%

:

2

-

(91
o

0 Taxis London
0 15%

2005 2007 2009 2011 2013 2015

Private Hire Vehicles in London

Between 2013 and 2015, there was a 26% rise in PHVs in London. Licensed PHVs increased
from 60,000 in 2013 to 94,000 in 2015; PHV licenses are being issued at a rate of 600 every
week, and so they could potentially rise from 94,000 to 124,000 by the end of 2016.

The number of new minicabs has risen by 56% in the last two years, largely due to Uber.
The increase in PHV activity in London has lengthened journey times by over 10% over the
past 12 months. Uber in London has gone from having zero to 20,000 PHVs registered with
it in three years (ref: GLA transport committee) 1©

More Road Works

Congestion , as always, is caused by demand exceeding supply. What is interesting about
the recent sharp rise in congestion in central London — increasing by 12% per annum since
2012( Inrix London congestion trends May 2016), is that it mainly a supply side problem.
Demand for road space has remained relatively flat, with the growth in LGV’s and private
hire being largely offset by a decline in car traffic. It is the substantial reduction in road
space, with planned roadworks increasing by 362% over the last 3 years, which has led to
significant increases in congestion. It is to be hoped that many of the road closures are
temporary with major capital works such as Crossrail and Cycle Superhighways reducing
available road space.

16 GLA Transport Committee:

Page 39



Figure ES4: London Surface Transport Disruption Hours,
2012 to 2015

4000

3500
3000
2500

2000

2012 2013 2014 2015

M Unplanned M Planned

Hours

ref: Inrix London Congestion trends May 2016.

More traffic lights

Page 40



A sharp increase in the number of signal-controlled junctions means that there is one set of
lights for every 5.5 miles of road (a figure that will be much higher in urban areas), a rise of
two-thirds since 2000. 7.

It is important that buses get as much priority as possible at junctions.

94,000

b. Space Wars: political decision-making

The mode of transport we use personally has a significant bearing on the priority we think it
should be given. The majority still view the transport problem from behind the wheel of a
car and this all too often in reflected in political decision-making. | would like to be able to
say that decision-making is more objective and informed by investment appraisal and cost-
benefit analysis which looks at economic, social and environmental factors. But transport
decision-making is much more subjective than that. Our cities deserve better.

The more affluent and generally well educated the traveller, the more vocal and powerful a
lobby they form to be able to effect change that is advantageous to their choice of mode.
This helps to explain why, for the sixth year running, fuel duty has been frozen despite

17 We’re Jammin’: A comprehensive nationwide study into how traffic management is leading to costly delays
for the UK taxpayer. Grant Shapps MP. British Infrastructure Group, May 2016 http://www.shapps.com/wp-
content/uploads/2016/05/Were-Jammin-FINAL1.pdf

Page 41



record low oil prices. The motoring lobby is powerful. It also helps to explain how rail has
been allocated £38bn to maintain and improve the network until 2019, despite buses
accounting for a greater proportion of trips than rail. It is the bus passenger who has the
least profile and is the furthest from the ear of the politician.

People in the highest-income households travel almost five times as far by rail as people in
the lowest income households, whereas people from lowest income households travel 2.4
times as far by bus as people with the highest income level. People in households of highest
income group travel 2.6 times as far by car as people in lowest income households.

What is less well known is how relatively affluent cyclists are compared with bus
passengers. Transport for London describes the London cyclist as “typically white, under 40,
male with medium to high household income”. A report by the London School of Hygiene &
Tropical Medicine’s Transport & Health Group in 20118 describes cycling in London as
disproportionately an activity of white, affluent men. Only 1.5% of those living in
households earning under £15,000 cycled compared with 2.2% of those living in households
earning over £35,000.

While | am the first to support more sustainable forms of transport, and the critical
importance of reducing cycling accidents, we have to be careful that cycling improvements
are not to the detriment of bus passengers. Despite the commendable efforts of Bus Users
UK, Transport Focus and the Campaign for Better Transport, the voice of bus passengers
does not seem to be heard by decision makers. This can partly be explained by the lack of
coverage and exposure the bus receives in the mainstream media whose management are
far more likely to drive or use the train, than they are to catch the bus to work This lack of
public profile for buses means there is less pressure on politicians to invest properly in the
sector.

Roads are one of the most valuable and scarcest resources our city authorities have at their
disposal. City authorities are still too focused on moving vehicles rather than people. With
an average occupancy of around 1.2 for commuting trips, cars are the most inefficient users
of road space.

One of the most radical reallocations of road space that has occurred on UK roads in recent
years has been London’s cycle superhighways, whereby 25% of road space has been
allocated to cyclists in central London. This would not have happened with a non-cycling
mayor. Boris Johnson cycled as a schoolboy, as a university student at Oxford and since. It is
much more common for local and national politicians to view transport problems from
behind the windscreen of a car or through the window of a train.

When | was appointed chair of the Transport Committee in Lothian Region (succeeded by
City of Edinburgh Council) in 1994, | inherited a tram scheme which was led by Alistair
Darling — and which | supported as a member of his committee — before he was elected to
the House of Commons. When | was told by council officials that we had minimal resources

18 Steinbach, R; Green, J; Datta, J; Edwards, P; (2011) Cycling and the city: a case study of how gendered, ethnic
and class identities can shape healthy transport choices. Social science & medicine, Vol 72 (7), April 2011.
http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/1179/

Page 42



at our disposal — and certainly nothing like sufficient to build the two line scheme that was
proposed — | asked what plan B was. It was Greenways bus priority.

Greenways was unique among bus priority schemes in the UK in that it was extensive and
involved a much higher level of enforcement. It was and still is controversial.

For me, the decision was straightforward. Bus trips accounted for 50% of the trips into
Edinburgh city centre during the peak so it was only fair that we allocated 50% of the road
space to them. If | had seen local government as a stepping stone to Westminster or
Holyrood, | would not have implemented it. The winners were bus passengers; winners are
not vociferous and bus passengers are not anyway, certainly when compared with the
perceived losers, motorists, who are very vociferous and much more influential. They are
more likely to be business leaders, newspaper editors and opinion formers.

Politicians are much more likely to find members of the public attending their local surgeries
to complain about bus priority than to ask for measures to speed up bus times.

We need more bus champions in the UK in local, devolved and central government. The bus
is the most efficient user of road space, the most environmentally friendly of the motorised
modes and the one most used by those on the lower end of the income scale who are all
too often less vocal, and less likely to be heard.

Movement space versus people space

The desire to create more a pedestrian-friendly environment has resulted in movement
space being squeezed in many cities. This has had an impact on traffic flow.

While there is often a conflict between catering for cyclists and bus passengers, and the
London cycle superhighways are a topical case in point, policies favouring pedestrians and
buses are more complementary and have greater synergy between them than many think.

The more accommodating city centres are to pedestrians, the more attractive they become
to retail and businesses generally. Bus routes radiate from the city centre: the more people
travelling to city centres, the more populated our buses are. There is at times a conflict:
sometimes buses are denied access to parts of the town centre as part of a general vehicle
ban. Conversely, Oxford Street in London and Princes Street in Edinburgh are two good
examples of streets where pedestrians and buses compete for space.

City retailing faces severe competition from out of town shopping centres and a newer
threat which is growing exponentially, online shopping. Bus companies are often the first to
protest about pedestrianisation; it would serve them well to acknowledge that city retailers
are facing a major battle to hold on to customers, and that the viability of city centre retail
and bus companies are inextricably linked. A sensible balance needs to be struck between
making our cities pedestrian-friendly and ensuring that bus passengers can get close to their
destination. It is important to remember that shopping represents around one-third of bus
journeys in the UK.

Page 43



5. Recommendations: Five Point Plan

1. Set Bus Speed Targets

The Buses Bill should set guidance encouraging local authorities and bus operators to set
targets for average bus speeds (with a minimum requirement of stopping bus speeds
declining any further). This should apply in both a regulated and deregulated environment.
In the latter, it should be a requirement for the new Enhanced Quality Partnerships
proposed in the upcoming Buses Bill.

Local authorities would deliver their side of the partnership by giving priority on roads and
at junctions to buses, and bus companies would focus on significant improvements to dwell
times by accelerating the programme for off-bus ticketing, smart cards and contactless
payment. Paying cash on a bus is archaic and should be made a relic of history as quickly as
possible.

ITSO smartcards have considerably slower transaction times than those in London. It’s
imperative that the rest of the UK emulates the high bar that London has set in ease of
ticketing and speedy transaction times.

2. Demand Management

There has been a fundamental change in transport policy over the last 20 years, away from
changing travel behaviour to giving people choice. The consequence of this laissez-faire
approach is rising congestion, slower traffic speeds and gridlock becoming all too often the
norm. This is bad for our city economies and their environment.

It is interesting to note the comments below from TomTom Traffic Vice President, Ralph-
Peter Schaefer. They could have been taking straight out of the 1998 White Paper on
Transport:

“Transport authorities are managing congestion with well-engineered policies, but you can’t
just build your way out of traffic jams. Studies have shown that policies of ‘predict and
provide’ are unsustainable. Building new motorways and ring roads doesn’t eliminate
congestion. More must be done to better manage existing road space and to spread
demand. People simply aren’t doing enough to change their travel habits — such as working
flexible hours, avoiding peak commuting times, making use of real—time traffic information
and trying alternative travel modes. If only 5% of us changed our travel plans, we could
improve traffic congestion on our main roads by up to 30%.”

Choice means no choice but to suffer worsening congestion

The problem with this policy shift is that it means that all users of our city roads, from bus
passengers to motorists, from delivery and freight vehicles to taxis, all now have no choice
but to sit in ever-worsening traffic jams. Without some form of demand management, from
parking restraint to the more effective congestion charging, coupled with improved public
transport, we will regulate traffic volumes in our cities through congestion. This explains

Page 44



why peak hour city centre traffic volumes have remained fairly static over the last 30 years,
and why the morning and evening peaks continue to lengthen. We reached saturation point
and road users responded by adjusting the time of day they travelled. While many motoring
and freight trips have some flexibility in the time of day they are made, this does not apply
to buses. Nor are bus drivers able to take advantage of satellite navigation to negotiate their
way through traffic jams. They have to stick to their route.

Stick needed as well as carrot

While it is crucial that we do everything we can to provide better public transport, this is not
a panacea for city traffic congestion. If we are successful in shifting car trips to public
transport, the road space that is vacated will be taken up by latent demand — road trips that
people did not make because congestion proved to be a deterrent, until they were enticed
back on to the road network as congestion declined.

| was sharply reminded of this when the Commission for Integrated Transport studied
Munich. 1° We chose the Bavarian capital because it was one of the best examples of what a
strong devolved regional and city government could achieve on the public transport front. It
had everything we aspired to in the UK in excellence in public transport provision, and yet
traffic congestion continued to rise. The city transport officials in Munich recognised that
they were powerless to prevent this without demand management measures to constrain
the growth in car use. It has long been acknowledged that we need the stick as well as the
carrot. However, politicians find the latter much easier to deliver than the former.

London’s successful congestion charge

Introduced in 2003, the London congestion charge achieved its objective of cutting traffic
volumes in the charging zone by 20%. (This has since been more than cancelled out as road
space has shrunk in central London through road works, cycle superhighways, growth in
delivery vehicles and private hire). The congestion charge had the added benefit of
providing a valuable revenue stream to improve bus services and hold down fares. The bus
sector benefited most from congestion charging, not just from the hypothecated revenue
stream but from improved journey times and reliability.

In the first year of congestion charging, bus speeds in the central zone improved by 7% and
excess waiting time was cut by 30%. The congestion charge gave a bigger boost to bus
passengers than any other single measure. Speeds increased by 14.6% (comparing three
months before with three months after introduction) in the Congestion Charging Zone (CCZ)
following the introduction of the charge. However since 2004 bus speeds in London have
been gradually decreasing to below pre-congestion-charging levels. This trend grew worse
from 2014, in line with increased road congestion caused by the economic recovery and
construction of major road schemes.

1% Commission for Integrated Transport: Study of European best practice in the delivery of integrated
transport: report on stage 2 — case studies: 3, Munich, Germany November 2001.
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110303161656/http:/cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/2001/ebp/e
bp/stage2/03.htm

Page 45



The predecessor to new Mayor Sadig Khan - Boris Johnston rejected demand management
as a policy weapon and immediately on his election removed the western extension to the
congestion charging zone. The introduction of cycling superhighways, 25% of road space in
central London has been reallocated without doing anything to compensate by reducing
traffic. The result has been worsening congestion and slower traffic speeds. Bus passengers
have been the main losers.

Boris Johnson's parting shot as London mayor was to warn his successor that they will have
to take action to cut traffic volumes by increasing the congestion charge. This raises the
guestion as to why he did not act on his own advice during his eight years as mayor.

The other good example of a city adopting a radical demand management measure is
Nottingham with its workplace parking levy. It is well known that if people have a free
parking place at work it is very difficult to get them to use public transport. It is no
coincidence that Nottingham is one of the few cities in the UK to have experienced a decline
in traffic volumes and city centre congestion over the past decade. The success has been
built on carrot and stick.

The proliferation in the number of delivery vans in London is becoming such a problem in
cities that it is worth investigating the impact a charging scheme could have to incentivise
deliveries off-peak, especially during the evening.

Back to the future

We need to return to the ethos of the 1998 White Paper on Transport which accepted the
necessity for demand management in our cities and the crucial importance of bus priority. It
was right then, and the passage of time has made its conclusions and recommendations
even more essential.

Those cities that have embraced this agenda, such as London and Nottingham, have been
successful in cutting traffic congestion. In the case of London, the early success of
congestion charging has been eroded by capacity reductions on the road network and the
failure to build on the very positive legacy of the congestion charge when first introduced in
2003.

The Conservative Government in the 1990s also accepted that we could not have a free-for-
all in our cities and proposed a “roads hierarchy” which gave priority to pedestrians, cyclists,
bus passengers and motorists, in that order (Reference — Steven Norris, Minister for
Transport). 2° This was nothing to do with being anti-car, but a logical acceptance that cars,
with an average occupancy of around 1.2 for commuter journeys, are highly inefficient users
of road space. One of the most precious and scarcest of resources that local authorities have
at their disposal is road space. They can choose how they allocate it. The enlightened ones
recognise the roads hierarchy and are not afraid to make the tough decisions.

3. Bus priority

20 Steven Norris:

Page 46



The road network needs to move people and goods efficiently if we are to ensure the social
and economic wellbeing of our communities. Buses have a vital role to play in this, as they
can make excellent use of limited road space, carrying many more passengers than a private
car for a given amount of space. However, the potential benefit of the bus is stifled by traffic
congestion. Local authorities and bus operators need to work in partnership to make buses
a more attractive alternative to the car by releasing them from the congestion delays
experienced by other road users. This in turn will improve reliability and help make the bus
an attractive choice for more car users as well as providing quicker journeys for both bus
and other road users.

Experience from schemes around the country shows that bus lanes may reduce bus travel
times by 7 to 9 minutes along a 10km congested route and also improve their reliability.
Reliability means buses operate in accordance with their timetables on every journey, which
is important to bus users. Measures to assist buses in one metropolitan city have halved the
variation in journey times that operators experienced in that corridor, enabling them to
operate their buses more efficiently.

By introducing bus priority with other improvements, services can become more attractive
to potential passengers. For example, a comprehensive quality corridor initiative in a major
conurbation delivered a 75% increase in bus passengers over 5 years, with 20% being new
customers.

In a 2014 report for Greener Journeys, KPMG estimated that bus priority schemes can
typically generate £3.32 of benefits for every £1 invested by the Government and in some
cases £7 benefit for every £1 invested 2%. This represents excellent value for money,
compares well with other forms of urban transport investment, and scores more highly than
many much larger transport infrastructure projects. Bus priority schemes are also cheaper
to build and maintain, and quicker to implement, than many traditional transport schemes.

In the words of the Urban Transport Group:

“Bus priority is about more than smoother bus journeys. Indeed, it is about more than
improving transport. It can make a considerable contribution to local economies and quality
of life. Bus priority schemes are significant projects which can provide the catalyst to assess
how streets function, what people and businesses want from their local area and how to
resolve longstanding issues effectively. This integrated approach delivers many benefits.
They range from quicker journeys for all road users to greater access to employment, better
trading conditions, safer streets, and public realm that makes for more enjoyable time in
our towns and cities.” 22

4. Speed up dwell time at bus stops

21 A National Statement on Local Bus Infrastructure, Greener Journeys, June 2014.
http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/12.pdf

22 Bys priority works, Urban Transport Group, July 2014
www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/reports/bus-priority-works-business-shops-communities-and-
growth

Page 47



While this report has focused on the impact rising traffic congestion has on bus journey
times, in urban environments between 25% and 33% of journey time is spent picking up and
dropping off passengers (dwell time).

Fare transaction times (seconds) per passenger
|

Oyster and Contactless
ITS0 smart cards

cash exact fare

cash with change

=]

235 4.5 6.75

=]

Time in seconds.

London has led the world on cashless buses, which have had a dramatic impact on reducing
dwell time at bus stops. The 0.5 seconds per transaction on London buses is unrivalled
anywhere in the world. Dwell time has been cut by at least half. Transport for London
believes that the total run time of buses has been reduced by about 7-10%.

Most of the operating cost of buses is directly driven by run time, so that translates into a
straight saving of some £120-180m annually. This dwarfs the one-off cost of introducing
Oyster (E50m)and contactless (E68m).

If we could extend London-style cashless buses and contactless payments to the rest of the
UK we could improve bus journey times by up to 10% by halving dwell time at bus stops.

The big five bus operators in the UK have set a target to introduce contactless bus
transactions by 2022. This should the very latest date for this to be introduced UK-wide, and
everything possible should be done to accelerate it. It is feasible for bus operators to
achieve contactless payments on buses in the major urban conurbations within the next
three years.

Page 48



5. Mobilise Bus Passengers

Too little focus is placed on the importance of the bus because bus passengers carry too
little weight with opinion-formers and political decision-makers. The socio-economic profile
of bus passengers is very different from rail users, motorists and cyclists, with a much higher
percentage of those on lower income travelling by bus. It helps to explain why fuel duty has
been frozen for six consecutive years despite rock bottom oil prices: the motoring lobby is
powerful. Cheaper fuel reduces the competitive position of the bus versus the car.

We need more bus champions in the UK in local, devolved and central government. The bus
is the most efficient user of road space, crucial for the health of our city economies and a
vital part of an environmentally-friendly local sustainable transport system.

Bus companies need to get better at communicating with their customers to keep them
better informed. This would also help them to mobilise support from their customers for
pro-bus measures such as bus priority. It would be a rare event for a bus passenger to lobby
politicians for improved bus priority; it’s much more common for non-bus users to complain
about priority measures. Local politicians who are making brave decisions to allocate road
space for bus passengers need as much support as they can get from their local bus
companies

INSERT TABLE SUMMARY OF FIVE POINT PLAN
RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Bus speed targets
2.Demand management
3. Bus priority

4.Speed up dwell time

5. Mobilise bus passengers

Page 49



References

Executive summary

[1] the TAS Partnership

[2] Dft elasticity

[3] Daniel Johnson, Institute for Transport Studies, Leeds University

[4] Environmental Factors in Intelligent Transport Systems, Prof Margaret Bell. IEE Proceedings: In-
telligent Transport Systems, Vol 153 Issue 2, 2006

[5] A New Deal for Transport: Better for Everyone. White Paper, July 1998
www.persona.uk.com/bexhill/Core_docs/CD-05/CD-05-16.pdf

Chapter 1

[6] An Analysis of Urban Transport, Cabinet Office Strategy Unit, November 2009.
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/308292/urban
transportanalysis.pdf

[7] Number 11 bus speed

[8] Daniel Johnson, Peter Mackie and Jeremy Shires: Buses and the Economy Il. Institute for
Transport Studies, University of Leeds, July 2014 http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-
content/uploads/2014/07/Buses _and_the Economy |l main report july.pdf

[9] Prof Peter White, University of Westminster: Impact of bus priorities and busways on energy
efficiency and emissions. Greener Journeys [?] [September 2015 ?]
http://www.greenerjourneys.com/publication/impact-of-bus-priorities-and-busways-on-energy-
efficiency-and-emissions/

[10] Bell, [3] op. cit

Chapter 2
[11] The TAS Partnership, [1] op. cit.

[12] The demand for public transport: a practical guide. R Balcombe (ed), TRL Report TRL 593, 2004

[13] Cost issues in public transport operation, Commission for Integrated Transport, Jan 2008
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110304132839/http://cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/2
008/index.htm

[14] European best practice in delivering integrated transport. Commission for Integrated Transport,
November 2001
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110304132839/http://cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/2
001/index.htm

[15] The TAS Partnership, [1] op. cit.

Page 50


http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/308292/urbantransportanalysis.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/308292/urbantransportanalysis.pdf
http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Buses_and_the_Economy_II_main_report_july.pdf
http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Buses_and_the_Economy_II_main_report_july.pdf

[16] GLA Transport Committee

[17] We're Jammin’: A comprehensive nationwide study into how traffic management is leading to
costly delays for the UK taxpayer. Grant Shapps MP. British Infrastructure Group, May 2016

http://www.shapps.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Were-Jammin-FINAL1.pdf

[18] Steinbach, R; Green, J; Datta, J; Edwards, P; (2011) Cycling and the city: a case study of how
gendered, ethnic and class identities can shape healthy transport choices. Social science & medicine
(1982), Vol 72 (7), April 2011. pp. 1123-30. ISSN 0277-9536 http://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/1179/

[19] Commission for Integrated Transport: Study of European best practice in the delivery of inte-
grated transport: report on stage 2 — case studies: 3, Munich, Germany November 2001.
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110303161656/http:/cfit.independent.gov.uk/pubs/20
01/ebp/ebp/stage2/03.htm

[20] Steven Norris:

[21] A National Statement on Local Bus Infrastructure, Greener Journeys, June 2014.
http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/12.pdf

[22] Bus priority works, Urban Transport Group, July 2014
www.urbantransportgroup.org/resources/types/reports/bus-priority-works-business-shops-communities-and-
growth

Page 51


http://www.greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/12.pdf

APPENDICES - Case studies

Brighton

Brighton and Hove has long been considered to be a beacon of best practice on bus policy,
resulting in strong bus growth and very high per capita bus use. The number of bus journeys
in Brighton & Hove has doubled in the last twenty years with bus journeys rising from 22
million in 1992/93 to 44.8 million in 2012/13. This was in marked contrast to the national
story on bus use where the figures showed a continuous decrease in passengers.

This impressive rise in bus use has been facilitated by the favourable climate created by an
excellent local bus company working in partnership with Brighton & Hove City Council, who
have implemented a number of pro-bus measures, including:

e A network of priority bus lanes on key routes, such as the Western Road/North
Street corridor, the A259 coast road and the A270 Lewes Road.

e Real Time Information signs at bus stops that let people know when buses are due —
these have also increasingly been installed in buildings so that people can time when
they leave to avoid waiting for the bus. The system can also be accessed from mobile
phones and Brighton & Hove Bus and Coach Company was the first bus company to
launch an iphone app to do this

e Being the first council to introduce ‘talking bus stops’ for visually impaired people so
they can access the ‘real time’ information and be independent travellers

e Bus priority at traffic signals which gives buses a head start in traffic, delivering pas-
sengers to their destinations quicker and helping with punctuality

e In 2004, Brighton & Hove became the only English city, outside London, to have a
commercially viable night bus service when the bus route N7 was launched. This was
subsequently joined by other commercially operated night buses by the bus compa-
ny.

e A Quality Bus Partnership that has produced a number of initiatives, including mak-
ing bus stops more accessible (providing a level surface from the pavement onto the
bus)

e Joint work on specific projects with bus companies on improving routes, such as the
Lewes Road transport corridor and the better bus area for Edward Street, Eastern
Road and Valley Gardens

e Support through winning EU funding to enable the bus company’s smartcard (known
as ‘the key’) to be available on local trains and tendered bus routes operated by oth-
er bus companies enabling people to prepay their journeys on a card that can be
scanned on the bus. The bus company has also introduced extensive use of mobile
phone based ticketing.

e Breeze Up to the Downs, a successful partnership service that links buses from the
centre to some of the most popular countryside destinations outside the city

The most critical of these factors behind the impressive growth has been the council’s long
held commitment to bus priority which has allowed for the creation of a virtuous circle

Page 52



whereby the bus operators have been able to invest in new vehicles, smarter ticketing,
more frequent services, encouraging more people to use the bus. From the mid1990s to
date, a significant length of bus lanes have been introduced: through the city centre, the
Coast Road as well as the road accessing the two universities which allowed buses to bypass
long, regular traffic queues.

The most dramatic effects have been seen on the Coast Road where the reason for the bus
lane was to bypass regular queueing traffic. On the Peacehaven to Brighton Station service
(Route 12 and all its variants) since the bus lane was introduced not only are bus journey
times shorter but they are much more predictable. There has been a 16% improvement in
journey time since 1976 and a 4% improvement per annum. Journey time is actually 7
minutes faster today than it was in 1966. It shows what can be done and how we do not
have to accept declining bus speeds as being inevitable. The number of passengers on the
main route to use the bus lane has increased by 63% between 2007 and 2015, although data
is not available on the extent of diversion from other modes.

Brighton: Peacehaven to Brighton Station

32

w31
o

s
=3ﬂ_

EEE—

- 27 -

= 35 -

&25

<33 -
1976 (Service 12) 2016 (Service (12X)

Year

In 2012 the operator carried out a simple survey on the Coast Road by counting the num-
ber of vehicles and the number of occupants in each during the morning peak and found
that buses made up 2% of the number of vehicles but carried 45% of the people.

However, the south coast city has experienced a sharp increase in congestion levels over the
past decade culminating in Brighton along with Gloucester coming out worst for congestion,
with an average increase in journey time of 1.5% per annum. Unsurprisngly, this has had a
detrimental effect on bus operations and without further action, could jeopardise the status
of Brighton as a shining light in sustainable transport use.

Page 53



Bus Service Running Times Eastbound AM Peak:
2008 v 2016

140

120

100

Mins

2 5 5B 6 7 1214C 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29

Bus Service Mo.

N 2008 ®2016

Bus Service Running Times Westbound AM Peak:
2008 v 2016

140
120

100

S

Mins

5 58 & 7 1z214C 22 23 24 25 25 27 28 29 46 49 50
Bus Service Mo.

m2008 W2016

Page 54




Bus Service Running Times Eastbound PM Peak:
2008 v 2016
140
120
100
a0
Mins &0 |
© o
ol 11 |
o INANRNRRANY 111
1 2 5 5B 6 7 1214C22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 46 49 50
Bus Service No.
N 2008 W 2016
Bus Service Running Times Westbound PM Peak:
2008 v 2016
140
120
100
a0
Mins |
-~
e (1111 |
> TR AR
o
1 2 5 5B 6 7 1214C22 23 24 25 26 27V 28 29 46 49 50
Bus Service No.
N Z008 W2016

A study by one of Brighton’s bus operators of running times (the maximum running time for
each direction, by am peak, daytime, and pm peak) for each route shows that, on average,

Page 55



peak running times in the city have increased by about 13% since 2008, or put another way,
bus speeds have declined by this amount.

This has led to operators having to increase the PVR just over the last few years just to
maintain the required service level in the face of this congestion. Another report showing
worsening services (and operational costs increases) demonstrates how although the maxi-
mum running times appear reasonable, the peaks are starting earlier and finishing later. For
example instead of using daytime running times until 4pm and then longer peak running
times until 6pm, the longer peak running times are now needed between 3.30 and 6.30pm.

Bristol

Over the last decade and in particular since the four local authorities in the West of England
(Bristol, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire and Bath & North East Somerset) came to-
gether to form a partnership to deliver on areas like transport, Bristol saw large improve-
ments to bus priority, principally under the auspices of the Greater Bristol Bus Network.

The Greater Bristol Bus Net recognised the vital role that bus services had to play as the
backbone of cost effective urban public transport systems. In effective partnership between
the commercial bus operator and the local authorities delivered a series of bus network en-
hancements which brought 10 key routes up to showcase standard, with:

e Over 120 new buses

e Nearly 1,000 improved bus stops - new shelters, new information panels, level ac-
cess

e More than 300 new real time information displays

e New bus priority signals at junctions that turn green when buses approach helping
them stay on time

e Bus priority lanes allowing buses to bypass general traffic

e Road widening in key traffic hot spots

In 2017, the long gestation of the Metrobus project — high priority and high speed bus services
connecting several parts of Bristol and will link in with existing bus and rail services - will become
operational in 2017 when 20,000 services a day are expected to run on it. It will be operated with
modern, low-emission vehicles which will run on segregated bus ways and bus lanes which have
right of way over traffic on sections of the route. Bus stops will provide electronic, real-time
information displays with fast-boarding and smartcard ticketing.

In 2015, the bus company carried 54 million passengers in the West of England, a 20 per
cent increase from two years ago.

Despite active promotion, and an increase in use, of public and active transport in the city as
well as representing the European Green Capital in 2015, Bristol has a very severe

Page 56



congestion problem with regular grid-locks an all-too-familiar feature of local life. The
Department for Transport’s figures show that Bristol is in fact the most congested city in the
country and that traffic moves slower during peak times than any other city, including
London. On A roads in peak times, the average speed of vehicles in Bristol is 14.3 mph
(compared to London’s average of 14.9mph). The city's latest average represents a drop
from 14.5mph in June 2014 and 15mph the year before.

Average Vehicle Speed in AM Peak
35

296

30

25

20

mph
15

10

Page 57



16

14

12

10

mph 8

o]

~

3]

Reduction in Vehicle Speeds in Bristol 2013-15

1
E

14.5

2013 2014

14.3

2015

Bristol is a busy city and the urban hub of the West of England sub-region with half a million
car users travelling in to the city each day. A historic deficit in transport infrastructure, with
lower than average public transport for a city of its size, high levels of car ownership (dur-
ing the period 2012-2015 the DVLA recorded an additional 18% of vehicles registered in the
West of England partnership area), a rapidly rising population (+12,000 a year in the
city alone) as well as increasing prosperity has seen traffic levels and congestion at
breaking point during peak times which has had a seriously adverse impact on bus

journey times and reliability.

The reality is that Bristol’s new directly elected Mayor, Marvin Rees, will have no choice but
to tackle the problem head on and follow in the vein of his pro-bus and pro-public and ac-

tive transport predecessor, George Ferguson.

1.6
1.4
1.2

0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2

p.a%

Increase in Bus Journey Time

““IlE

Brighton London  Hull ManchesterBristol EdinburghAverage

Cities

Page 58




Edinburgh

Edinburgh’s Greenways

This year marks the 20th anniversary of Edinburgh’s radical Greenways bus priority scheme. It has
won many plaudits from transport professionals and central government:" Edinburgh Greenways
scheme is successful (DFT: 2010. "Bus Priority — The Way Ahead") and "Edinburgh’ s Greenways have
proved to be a high profile and effective form of bus priority which substantially insulates the buses
using them from the worst effects of congestion"(The Scottish Executive Central Research Unit 2000)
| need to declare an interest as | was the politician responsible for Greenways. While it’s reassuring
to receive plaudits from fellow transport professionals | still, 20 years later, get stick when | return to
my native city!

78075 8
ST OF

Look how green the bus lanes are! They look nothing like this now as they don’t get much paint!

You were 15 times more likely to be caught by a traffic warden for illegally encroaching on a
Greenways bus priority. Compared with a conventional bus lane.

What is startling about the bus journey time data from Edinburgh is that from 1986 to 1996 all day
average bus speeds — as a result of good conventional bus priority followed by Greenways — bucked
the UK trend and actually improved by over 5%. It's the only conurbation wide example in the UK.
were bus journey times have actually improved over a prolonged period. From 1996 to 2016 journey
times in Edinburgh revert to the UK wide trend and declined by 20%.

Page 59



Edinburgh: % Change in Average Journey Time
(am peak)

25

20

15

10

%Change

o -

-10

Years

The City of Edinburgh Council needs to stand firm against those who want to dilute Greenways
enforcement and point to the fact that bus speeds are now falling by 10% every decade.

Whilst the Greenways in Edinburgh were a bold and strategic way forward for the mass movement
of people in the 1990’s their effectiveness has declined over the last 20 years. There are a number of
measures the City of Edinburgh Council can take to reverse the upward trend in bus journey times:

e review traffic signal timings. Best practice would indicate that this should be done every
three years.

e Embrace new technology by to improve traffic signal intelligence. . A bus with two
passengers gets the same prioriry as a full bus with 88 passengers. Technology exists today
where this could be avoided. Likewise, more use could be used of pre-emptive signalling.

e Don’t become too reliant on camera enforcement of bus priority lanes. With only 9 road side
camera’s to enforce over 60 km of bus lanes there are too many unauthorised vehicles using

them.

e Properly maintain Greenway’s. They no longer green!

e The 9 month trial they have embarked upon to remove bus priority during the off-peak
should not be made permanent.

Page 60



Edinburgh: Average Speeds (mph) Off Peak

12

11

10

mph

1986 1996 2016
Year

The data from Lothian Buses shows that bus speeds have declined by 19% over the last 20 years
even during the so called off-peak! This evidence should persuade the City Council that the trial
should not be made permanent

Greater Manchester

TfGM is delivering the largest contemporary urban public transport investment programme outside
London, working closely with district authorities in order to create a world class public transport
network in order to achieve world class city status for the city of Manchester. The aims of its public
transport network are to increase sustainable travel and reduce car travel, cut congestion, improve
the environment and allow communities to flourish. Critically, its public transport system is designed
to provide access to jobs and strengthen the Greater Manchester economy — the largest regional
economy outside London

Data relating to travel demands to the city centre during the AM Peak period (0730-0930) show that
the number of inbound movements that cross the cordon using a car has reduced by 22% (-7,123)
over the period between 2006 and 2014 as investments in public transport attracts increasingly
greater proportions of commuters.

Its impressive investment programme includes the expansion of Metrolink, major transport inter-
change facilities and extensive bus priority and busway schemes, investment to boost rail travel, sig-
nificant cycling, town centre and highways improvements, and evolving integrated travel infor-
mation systems.

However, traffic congestion on the region’s highways has reached such a level that it has begun to
seriously affect ridership on non-congesting forms of travel, most critically the bus. Ironically much
of the congestion has been caused by disruption from the construction and development of public
transport infrastructure designed to strengthen bus operations (and other public transport), which

Page 61



have temporarily reduced or eliminated highway capacity. Coupled with traffic growth of 4% per
annum, emergency highways repairs and population (city centre residents grew 177% between 2001
and 2011) and employment growth (district of Manchester, at has seen a 31% increase in residents
of working age between 2010 and 2014), congestion has increased to unprecedented levels. This has
produced extremely challenging conditions for bus companies.

2016 Congestion - Manchester Bus Operator

15/16*
14/15
13/14
12/13
11/12
10/11
09/10
08/09
07/08
06/07
05/06
04/05
03/04
02/03

Year

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000
Lost miles due to congestion

*based on first 11 periods grossed up

Data from Stagecoach West. The graph shows a selected number of key services around the area. Each of these show
scheduled running times for various years between 1990 and 2016, change in PVR to maintain the same frequency and
estimated additional cost due to congestion (this assumes no change to frequency, although many of these services
have in fact had frequency increases since 1990).

According to bus operators, this has resulted in average bus service punctuality over the last two
years being reduced by 10 per cent. On the poorest performing days, this can reach 50 or 60 per
cent below the regulatory target.

Bus operator data shows that this reduction in punctuality has led to longer journey times (up to
100% longer in the evening peak on cross-city routes and also longer in the mid and late evenings);
gaps in service as controllers attempt to re-schedule and re-allocate resources; increased regulatory
risk (3 DVSA investigations over reduced punctuality ongoing); doubling of lost mileage; a 10%
increase in customer complaints; an increase in staff overtime payments (up 400% in the last
quarter of 2015); and, critically, plans for permanent reductions in peak period service levels.

The same data shows additional vehicles have been deployed daily since November 2014, from at

least 2 to a peak of 17 between October and December 2015. It is currently 5. Average journey
speed has fallen from 11.2 mph in 1996 to 10.2 mph in 2014, and then to 9.7 mph in February 2016.

Page 62



Average Bus Speed of Manchester
Operator1996-2016

115
113 |~

11.1 \\
10.9 —
10.7
10.5 ~
10.3 ~.
10.1 N

9.9 N\

' N\
9.7
95 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T 1

R L X N A
B % % %‘_, 2 4% % % .

April of

Speed/m.p.h.

Several services have observed average peak journey time increases of between 40 and 60 per cent
and from January 2016, peak period headways have been widened on several services. 89
timetables have been adjusted for headway or journey time since May 2015.

For the services in South Manchester below ,Stagecoach have added 42% more PVR’s since 1986
due to impact of congestion on running time. Overall 125% more PVR’s due to also increasing
frequencies.

Average mileage is down by 3% year on year (4.5% after allowing for a service enhancement) and
critically, passenger numbers are down by 2.4% on year (after allowing for service enhancements).
These figures are despite operating hours being up by 0.4% on the year.

Page 63



Manchester Max Peak Speed

330 Ashton - Stockport (2)(3)

330 Stockport - Ashton (2)(3)

256 Flixton - Piccadilly (2)

255 Partington - Piccadilly

219 Ashton - Piccadilly (2)

216 Ashton - Piccadilly (2)

203 Stockport - Piccadilly (2)

201 (211) Hattersley - Piccadilly(2)
192 Hazel Grove - Piccadilly (1)
101 Wythenshawe - Piccadilly (2)
50 Parrs Wood - Albert Square (2)
43 Northenden - Piccadilly (1)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Percentage increase in max peak journey time 1986-2016

Service

Manchester: Oldham Market Place to
Piccadilly/ Oldham Bus Station to Piccadilly
(AM Peak)

wu
o

P
o wu

8]
i

w
o
|

]
wu
|

]
o
|

1966 (Service 82) 2016 (Service 83)
Year

Average Journey Time in Minutes

35% increase in journey time. 0.7% p.a.

Page 64



Manchester: Rusholme - Royal Exchange/
Rusholme - Piccadilly (Service 41 - AM Peak)

23
21
19
17
15 +
13
11

Average Journey Time in Minutes

1966 2016
Year

31% increase in journey time 0.62% p.a.

The long term data shows a decline in bus journey times of between 0.6 and 0.7% per annum from
1966, on the two sections of route above, that | was able to compare current timetables with
historic.

This compares favourably with the UK trend which is nearer 1% per annum decline.
However, it is the dramatic increase in journey times over the last few years which are much more

worrying. Data shows how Stagecoach’s average bus speeds decreased by 4.9% between 2014 and
2016, way above the average trend of 1% per annum for the six most congested conurbations.

Manchester Bus Operator speeds (mph)
2014-2016

12

10.2

10 -

2014 2016

TfGM publicly recognises that traffic congestion on its highways is a real challenge and is
undertaking a broad programme of activity that recognises the role and further potential that buses
have in helping meet the challenge of congestion and equally, the effect congestion that has on bus
operations across Greater Manchester. In particular, it is recognised that there is limited resilience
on key parts of the highway network, and that relatively small increases in demand can cause

Page 65



significant levels of congestion. Hence there is a key role for bus, functioning efficiently within a
more integrated public transport network, to attract as much demand as possible thereby helping
reduce highway congestion in aggregate.

Based on the success of its £88m Quality Bus Corridors implemented between 1998 and 2008, TfGM
showed its continued commitment to bus priority by implementing its £122m Bus Priority Package
from 2008 to date. Patronage on its QBC routes had increased by 7.9m journeys (18.6%) between
March ‘04 and July ‘08 and the “gap” between car and bus journey times reduced, increasing bus
competitiveness. Safety also improved in the location of major QBC schemes with an average
reduction in all accidents of 19%; and average bus speed in bus lanes was 25kph, 38% faster than the
average speed of 15kph where bus lanes were not provided. The study also showed marginally
improved average journey times for general traffic.

These achievements led it to embark on its £122m Bus Priority Package which is one of the largest
investments in Greater Manchester’s bus network for decades, with over 25 miles of the network
being either created or improved. The investment will allow cross city bus services to run directly
through the heart of Manchester city centre so passengers won’t need to change buses. It will also
improve accessibility and connectivity between areas in the north and west of Greater Manchester
to the Regional Centre and Oxford Road. This includes the North West'’s first guided busway which
opened in April 2016.

In the short term, some disruption during construction phases is inevitable, but close liaison
between TfGM with all agencies including bus operators and careful forward planning will hopefully
help mitigate the effects. And in the longer term, investments such as the Cross City bus priority
schemes confer significant operational and efficiency advantages for bus operations.

Looking ahead, as part of the 2040 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy, assessment is underway
of key locations causing bus delays. A long term strategy for bus priority investment is in
development, an integral part of the Highway Strategy for Greater Manchester

Hull

Through a Quality Bus Partnership approach between Hull City Council and the two main bus opera-
tors, Stagecoach in Hull and East Yorkshire Motor Services, bus patronage has grown by 30% since
2002/3 with around 26 million bus journeys being taken on the city’s combined bus network each
year. This represents twice the rate of growth achieved throughout the country during the same
time period. This is also the equivalent of cutting more than 3.5m car trips from the city’s roads.

Such impressive growth has been the result of improved fares structures; Park and Ride schemes;
extensive bus priority; a major new transport interchange; award winning marketing campaigns and
the bus lane enforcement scheme.

Despite such a success story, congestion in Hull is a major issue and which is impacting significantly
on the city’s radial routes and the A63 Trunk Road Corridor. The latest research by 'Tom Tom' identi-
fies that Hull is the sixth most congested city in the UK. There are a number of factors behind the
severity of congestion levels. Car ownership and car use in Hull is growing. The city’s role as a strate-
gic port and a ‘gateway to Europe’ creates additional traffic which has to pass through the city cen-
tre to access and depart from the docks on the eastern side of the city making the A63 trunk road

Page 66



the most congested part of the local road network. The reduction in Humber Bridge tolls led to a
25% increase in traffic with most vehicles going in to Hull on the A63.

According to the Tom Tom study, journey times on Hull’s roads are on average 33% slower than they
would be in free flowing traffic. According to the Department for Transport’s Average Delay on Local
A Roads 2014, Hull experienced an average delay of between 60 to 90 seconds per vehicle mile
which it categorizes as high levels of delay. DfT statistics show that between December 2014 and
December 2015, the average speed on local roads during the weekday AM peak fell from 16.7 mph
to 16.1 mph. It also shows that during the last quarter of 2015 alone, speeds fell by 1.3%.

Inevitably, Hull’s congestion problem has had an adverse impact on buses. Additional buses have
been added to the network simply to increase bus running times to reflect lower traffic speeds and
the effect of traffic congestion. Bus operator data has quantified the effect of increased congestion
by recreating and comparing the resources that would have been required to run today’s service
levels using 2002/3 bus running times and schedules. Bus speeds have slowed from 10.8 mph to
9.1mph and the current network could be operated with 15% less buses in the traffic conditions ex-
perienced in 2002/3.

The city council and in particular Councillor Martin Mancey, has continued to be supportive of pro
bus measures and public transport in general which it has voiced as being the only solution to reduc-
ing some of the congestion in the city and regularly encourages people to switch from using their
cars on to non-congesting modes. However, budget cuts are now biting with the council unable to
afford to submit the planning application for a new additional park and ride. Given the city’s strate-
gic role as an international trading route, a continued rise in congestion is not only going to continue
to negatively impact local bus services but on both the local and national economies.

Hull Bus Speeds by Route

mph

W 2002
m 2016

Service

Page 67



London

In London bus speeds have been declining faster than anywhere in the UK over the last few
years. This comes after of decades of relative success in protecting bus passengers from
traffic congestion through effective bus priority measures, such as red routes and other
initiatives, and the central congestion charging zone introduced in 2003. If the average
urban bus speed in the UK has historically been decreasing by almost 1% p.a., then for one-
third of London bus routes the decline been more than five times this average over the past
year. This has become a crisis for the capital and something the new mayor must prioritise.
London, which for more than a decade has been the UK’s bus success story, with passenger
numbers doubling since the formation of TfL in 2000, is now facing the fastest decline in bus
use anywhere in the UK.

There is a key lesson we can learn from this. You can get all the other ingredients right:
modern bus fleet, cashless buses with the most advanced smartcard ticketing system in the
world, a level of integration which is the envy of other UK cities, state-of-the-art passenger
information at the bus stop and on mobile devices. Add to this population and employment
growth and you should have a recipe for the London bus success story continuing. But all
these laudable ingredients cannot offset the rapid deterioration in bus journey times.

Boris Johnson was right to warn that his successor will have to use tougher congestion
charging measures to tackle London’s growth in congestion, but it’s a pity he did not take
action on his watch. He exacerbated the problem by removing the western extension of the
congestion zone and by reducing road capacity in central London by 25% through the
introduction of cycle superhighways — without taking action to curtail traffic in central
London. Both decisions were taken against the advice of TFL.

London Buses have undoubtedly been one of the Capital’s success stories, however, recent
growth in traffic and congestion over the last few years have undermined bus speeds and
reliability to the degree that buses are now facing a crisis.

The historic pattern of slowly declining patronage was dramatically reversed in the late
1990s to one of strong growth. Over the 13 years from 2000/01 to 2013/14, the number of
bus journey stages in London increased by 59.9 per cent, and passenger-kilometres grew by
73.8 per cent. More than half of all bus journeys taken in England are made in London.

However, this upward trend in bus patronage levelled off in recent years and over the

period between 2014/15 and 2015/16, patronage actually declined by 71 million journeys
which represent a decline of 3% year on year.

Page 68



Bus use in London

10

.,

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 1!3 13/14 14/15 156

Annual Percentage Change in Bus Journeys
]

-6
Year

The primary cause of this significant decline in patronage is the increased road congestion
caused by London’s population growth and the construction of major highway and urban
improvement schemes which has led to severe pressure on the road network. This has
caused such a deterioration in traffic speeds and bus network reliability that frustrated
passengers have stopped using the bus as much as they would have previously.

While levels of road traffic had been falling for much of the last decade, they have increased
for the last few years. Car driver trips increased by 1.2 per cent in 2014, the first increase
since 2009. During 2014, traffic volumes started to increase in all parts of London — by 3.4
per cent in central London, 1.4 per cent in inner London, and 1.9 per cent in outer London
(1.8 per cent at the Greater London level), relative to 2013.

Congestion , as always, is caused by demand exceeding supply. What is interesting about
the recent sharp rise in congestion in central London — increasing by 12% per annum since
2012( Inrix London congestion trends May 2016), is that it mainly a supply side problem.
Demand for road space has remained relatively flat, with the growth in LGV’s and private
hire being largely offset by a decline in car traffic. It is the substantial reduction in road
space, with planned roadworks increasing by 362% over the last 3 years, which has led to
significant increases in congestion. It is to be hoped that many of the road closures are
temporary with major capital works such as Crossrail and Cycle Superhighways reducing
available road space.

Page 69



Figure ES4: London Surface Transport Disruption Hours,

2012 to 2015

4000

3500
3000
2500
2000

2012 2013 2014 2015

M Unplanned M Planned

Hours

ref: Inrix London Congestion trends May 2016.

The knock on effect for buses in London is that bus speeds have declined faster than
anywhere in the UK over the last few years. This comes on the back of decades of relative
success in protecting bus passengers from traffic congestion through effective bus priority,
such as red routes and other initiatives, and the central Congestion Charging Zone (CCZ) in
2003. Speeds increased by 14.6% (comparing speeds 3 months before to 3 months after) in
the CCZ following the introduction of the charge, however, since 2004 bus speeds in London
have been gradually decreasing to below pre congestion-charging levels. Bus operations
have suffered as a result. Bus kms lost for traffic reasons rose from 1.8% in 2012/2013 to 2%
in 2014/15 and average excess waiting time (mins) on high frequency services rose from
1.02mins to 1.09mins.

Page 70



LOST KILOMETRES BY CAUSE

7%

6%

5%

@O0ther
4%

OTraffic

BEngineering

3%

ostaff

Percentage of schedule

2%

1%

0%

- N O W OO o = N® D © N~ ® O O v N M ¥ I
S < A 5 ¥ 85 0~ B o © © © © 9 © O ©r v ¥ © © ©
O N O < 1 © N~ 0 0O == ¥ =T X Z Z X W ..o
[ IR I S - - - R - O - B - - I = B B

P O 0000 S S o0 0O v v v v v

EXCESS WAITING TIME FOR
HIGH FREQUENCY BUS SERVICES

2.4 -

2.2

2.0 /\
A AN
1.6 \/ e \

Minutes

—
o [ I R N = |
= §S M ¥ B e m m ® 353 =
o =}

Z 94 0 I3 0N 0L & 2

97,

98,
99/00 -
00/01
12/13
13/14 -
14/15

Financial Year

The greatest decline in speeds was noticed in Tower Hamlets and Lewisham with reductions
in excess of 3% per annum, with the south-east the worst-affected region. Route level data
reflects this picture, with 474 routes out of 528 considered showing a decline in speed in
2015/16, 158 of which declined by more than 5% (routes with low levels of service operated
were discounted). TfL has closely monitored bus speeds in London since shortly before the
introduction of the congestion charge in February 2003.

Bus speeds in Central London have declined by around 7% in the last 8 years (see graph
below). If we work on the basis that average urban bus speeds in the UK have historically

Page 71



been decreasing by around 1% per annum, then for one third of London bus routes they
have been decreasing in speed by more than five times higher than this average over the
past year. The current speed of the Route 11 bus which is averaging 4mph in the peak,
epitomises the level of crisis that this has become for the capital and something the new
Mayor, Sadiq Khan, must prioritise.

TfL are facing swinging cuts to their revenue budget. Public transport is expected to operate
without any revenue subsidy by 2019- the only city in the world that will achieve this target,
with the exception of Hong Kong. The new Mayor has committed to a fares freeze which
raises the question who is going to pay for bus services in London if it is not coming from the
taxpayer and passengers will not make up the difference in higher fares. The solution is to
operate buses more efficiently by improving their speed. If London is to eliminate the £400
million per annum subsidy to its bus network then bus speeds would have to improve by
24%.

The rise in congestion is reducing TfL’s potential bus revenue and is not being fully offset
with patronage gained from elsewhere on the public transport network. TfL is working to
reverse the loss of bus revenue and patronage through a combination of special route relia-
bility measures, improving the flow of traffic through new bus priority initiatives and
through greater incentivisation of performance in outer London.

Trends in Bus Speeds for Selected Sections of Road
{AM Peak)

150 ¢

we CCZ (4 parvay) e C 00y g &N Chaiging Zona (CCD)
Moving avg (13 pariods)

N (4 paiod) Intat Ring Road
Mowing av3 (12 peads)

« = Radiak (4 parods) Ratlak close b CT
Moving avg (13 perads)

e Orblak (3 perods) — ek cloge % €2
Moving avg (43 perads)

London Buses have already become the butt of media jokes in the media with speeds being
compared unfavourably with a donkey (ref Sun) and a chicken (ref Hackney Advertiser).

Page 72



Some of these media comparisons on journey times in London are worst case scenarios and
made in a jovial manner. While bus speeds in London have fallen dramatically in recent
years to the bottom of the UK league table they provide an insight into where the trends are
taking us in the rest of the country unless radical action is taken especially given that
congestion in inner London is projected to rise by 25% and in outer London by 15% by 2031.

Page 73



While this report has focused on the impact rising traffic congestion has on bus journey
times, in urban environments between 25% and 33% of journey time is spent picking up and
dropping off passengers (dwell time).

Fare transaction times (seconds) per passenger
|

Oyster and Contactless
ITS0 smart cards
cash exact fare

cash with change

=
ra
i
=
tn

6.75

=]

Time in seconds.

London has led the world on cashless buses, which have had a dramatic impact on reducing
dwell time at bus stops. The 0.5 seconds per transaction on London buses is unrivalled
anywhere in the world. Dwell time has been cut by at least half. Transport for London
believes that the total run time of buses has been reduced by about 7-10%.

Most of the operating cost of buses is directly driven by run time, so that translates into a
straight saving of some £120-180m annually. This dwarfs the one-off cost of introducing
Oyster (E50m)and contactless (E68m).

If we could extend London-style cashless buses and contactless payments to the rest of the
UK we could improve bus journey times by up to 10% by halving dwell time at bus stops.

Page 74



Agenda Item 2

Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Ruth Goudie, Senior Transportation Officer, Canterbury City Council

Ruth worked for Canterbury City Council from 1980 until 2005, starting as a trainee
civil engineer and working through all the disciplines of engineering whilst obtaining a
BTEC, a HNC and a BEng, and specialising in traffic and transportation engineering
from 1984 to date. During this time she progressed in seniority and in 2005 became
the Team Leader of the Traffic and Transportation team.

In 2005, when highway functions were passed back from the districts to the Highway
Authority, Ruth was transferred to KCC as a senior engineer in the Transportation
Team. She stayed with KCC for 10 years as a transportation engineer, and in 2015
took a post at Canterbury City Council as a senior transportation officer.

Ruth has been closely involved in the preparation of two transportation strategies for
Canterbury. The first, Unlocking the Gridlock, was prepared in 2004. The second,
which was approved in draft by Canterbury City Council and KCC in 2015, is a
supplementary document to the current Local Plan. Both strategies recognise that
Canterbury’s transportation challenges arise from its status as a destination for
education, retail, heritage and leisure and that the only way to address the growing
demand to travel is by promoting choice in travel alternatives.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 5
Tuesday 25 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that
Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Ruth Goudie, Senior Transportation Officer, Canterbury City Council

Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the key roles and
responsibilities that your post involves.

Please provide a brief description of the structure, purpose and main
operations of the Canterbury Quality Bus Partnership.

What have the key achievements of the Partnership been?
What are the Partnership’s key objectives for the future?
What are the key challenges facing the Partnership, if any?

In your view, what are the main benefits and challenges associated with
the Bus Services Bill?

In your opinion, what are the main issues — if any — associated with bus
transport in Kent?

In your view, what can KCC do, if anything, to improve bus transport in
Kent?

Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the
Committee?

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Stephen Joseph
Chief Executive, Campaign for Better Transport

Stephen Joseph has been the executive director of Campaign for Better Transport
since 1988. His wide-ranging expertise and contacts have helped to make the
organisation the country’s leading transport NGO.

The last 20 years have had many highlights for Stephen, including persuading the
Treasury to cut the road-building programme in the 1990s, campaigning against the
privatisation of the railways and running a Sardine Man campaign to highlight the
overcrowded state of this country’s ‘sardine tin’ trains.

Stephen was a member of the Commission for Integrated Transport from 1999-2005,
having been one of the panel of external advisers on the Transport White Paper 1997-
8, and was a member of the Standing Advisory Committee on Trunk Road Assessment
(SACTRA) during its inquiry on transport and the economy. He was also on the
steering group for the Government’s road user charging feasibility study 2003-4. More
recently he has been a member of challenge panels or advisory groups for
Government plans on high-speed rail, eco-towns, transport appraisal and the Local
Sustainable Transport Fund.

He was awarded an OBE in 1996 for services to transport and the environment, and
received an honorary doctorate from the University of Hertfordshire in November 2010.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 5
Tuesday 25 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions. They have been provided in
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that
Members may be interested to explore. All Members are welcome to ask
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Stephen Joseph, Chief Executive, Campaign for Better Transport

Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and
responsibilities of your post.

What is Campaign for Better Transport? What are its objectives and
strategies?

Please discuss the main findings of the report “Buses in Crisis”, produced
by Campaign for Better Transport.

What is your view on the current deliver model of bus transport in Kent?

To what extent, in your view, are passengers consulted when shaping
delivery models of local bus transport?

In your view, what are the main opportunities and challenges, if any,
associated with the recent Bus Services Bill?

What should Kent County Council do, if anything, to improve bus transport
in Kent?

Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the
Committee?

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Better Transport

Buses in Crisis

A report on bus funding
across England and Wales
2010 - 2016

Page 83



Contents

1. Foreword

2. Executive summary

3. Key findings

4. Methodology

5. Are buses in crisis?

6. The cuts in buses — the numbers

7. Central government funding
and the Bus Service Operators Grant

8. Case Study 1- Urban areas -
Nottingham City Council

10

13

14

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ )

9. Case Study 2 - Rural areas - Cornwall 16

10. Bus fares: a story of

above inflation increases 18
11. Conclusion 20
12. Recommendations 21

13. Recommendations for the
Welsh Government 24

14. Next steps 26

www.bettertransport.org.uk

1. Foreword

Stephen Joseph

Chief Executive, Campaign for Better Transport

More people commute to work by bus than by all
other public transport combined. Yet buses are still
looked upon as a local issue — they rarely make national
headlines and politicians rarely don their hard hats and
hi-viz jackets to visit bus projects. Yet they matter, to
individuals and communities, and to the economy.

For millions of people buses provide everyday
transport and the decisions made about buses and
their funding matters a lot to many people in their
everyday lives. Buses are essential for the quarter of
UK households without a car; over half of households
on the lowest incomes fall into this category and bus
use rises as income falls.

Young people need reliable and affordable bus services
in order to access education and employment,
particularly apprenticeships. Bus services are therefore
vital if the Government is to achieve its target of three
million apprenticeships. For older people buses are a
lifeline away from isolation and loneliness, giving them
access to social activities, health services and shops.
Accessible public transport is often crucial in keeping
disabled people connected to their communities.

For many people in rural areas buses are essential,

not just for work and education, but for independence.
Buses are also important for leisure use, helping
people gain access to and travel around the
countryside more sustainably; they often also
contribute to the overall visitor experience.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

This report looks at what has been happening to
supported bus services (supported by funding from
local authorities) across England and Wales. With local
authority funding being cut, support for bus services
has been cut too. We have now been monitoring the
impacts of annual cuts to supported bus services for
five years and this report gives us a very clear picture
as to what is happening on the ground.

We have found that 63 per cent of local authorities
have made cuts to supported bus services in England
and Wales. Supported bus services may only represent
17 per cent of bus services, but they are often the

ones people and communities need most where no
alternative transport exists.

Buses in England and Wales are at a crossroads. Whilst
the Government has recognised for England the urgent
need for legislative changes in its forthcoming Buses
Bill, there is also the possibility of further funding

cuts to the Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) in

the current Spending Review. To ensure the legislative
changes to buses in the Buses Bill are successful, bus
funding must at the very least be kept at current levels.

On the current trajectory local authority supported
bus services have a very uncertain future. This report
highlights what is happening to these bus services
but also makes practical suggestions for local and
national government to adopt to ensure our buses
have a bright future.

www.bettertransport.org.uk




-
& . Executive summary
(o)

UI-|_ocal bus services across England and Wales are
under threat. Government reductions in local
authority funding have caused significant cuts to
bus services supported by local authorities.

This report gathers together a picture of these cuts
across England and Wales. This is the fifth year that
Campaign for Better Transport has conducted this
research, mapping and painting a very clear picture of
what is happening to supported bus services across
England and Wales and ultimately holding central and
local government to account.

These supported bus services are services that are
subsidised by local authorities because they are not
provided by commercial bus companies. They often
serve communities where no alternative transport
exists, meaning that any cut or alteration can often
have a huge impact on residents and local economies,
creating what we describe as public transport deserts.

Supported buses also provide services in evenings and
at weekends when services would otherwise cease.
These subsidised or supported services represent

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ )

17 per cent of bus provision in England; this is a fall of
two per cent on last year and a decline of seven per
cent since its peak in 2009/10.

Our research shows that this year 63 per cent of local
authorities in England and Wales have cut funding

for bus services, whilst 44 per cent have removed

or withdrawn services. Local authority funding for
supported bus services has fallen by £22.6 million.
Around 425 routes have been reduced or altered, of
which 145 have been withdrawn altogether. Since 2010,
local authorities in England and Wales have cut £78
million in funding and over 2,400 routes have been
reduced or withdrawn altogether.

This report highlights how, despite unprecedented
financial pressure on local authorities, bus service
withdrawals are not inevitable. The report includes
two case studies from Nottingham City Council
and Cornwall Council highlighting different positive
approaches to bus provision in an urban and
predominantly rural local authority area.

Our report recommends that a new approach is needed
to support buses and public transport. We suggest
three key areas for the Government to focus on three
recommendations:

www.bettertransport.org.uk

1. Buses Bill

The Government is promising a ‘Buses Bill’ to devolve
new powers on buses to local authorities. We support
this in the hope that it allows local authorities to

plan networks properly and introduce simple, unified
fares structures. This will be through franchising on
the London model, or, as franchising may not to be
the desired model for bus service delivery in all areas,
through the strengthening of partnerships between
bus operators and local authorities. However, with this
legislation promised the Government must now avoid
further reductions in the overall funding for buses as
such cuts would undermine these reforms.

2. Connectivity Fund

A ‘Connectivity Fund’ should be established by bringing
together the existing BSOG fund (around £230 million
in 2014-15) with additional ‘top slicing’ from 11 other
government departments that benefit from having
good bus networks including the Department for
Work and Pensions, the Department of Health, the
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs
and the Department for Education, into a ring-fenced
pot for local government to support bus services.

Campaign for
Better Transport <E>

It is suggested that this could pay for itself by reducing
the cost of other public services and by supporting
economic growth.

3. A Total Transport scheme

This is about bringing together the commissioning

of local transport services by different public bodies

in the same area, creating more sustainable and
integrated networks. The Government has funded an
£8 million pilot scheme across 37 local authorities and
the early indications show potential gains in efficiency
and services. We suggest the Government builds

on these pilots by rolling out the scheme to allow

all interested local transport authorities to bid for
funding for this coordinated commissioning.

These three approaches should be linked into a
government strategy and long-term vision for public
transport. Without some of these reforms, and if
nothing else changes, bus services will continue to

be reduced or in some areas cease entirely, creating
what we describe as ‘public transport deserts’ leaving
people isolated and unable to get to work or access
key facilities and public services.

.‘

H gl { | -t |

www.bettertransport.org.uk




3. Key findings

England

The key finding from our research is that in total
£22.2 million has been cut from supported bus
funding in England in 2015-16. With a £1.6 million
increase in spending by some local authorities, a net
reduction in funding of £20.5 million has been made
to supported bus services in England. This is an

8.4 per cent reduction since 2014-15. Since 2010-11
a total of £73.8 million has been cut from supported
bus services in England, a reduction of 25 per cent.

Total English spend on supported buses
since 2010 (£m)

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

In England a total of 372 bus services have been
reduced, altered or withdrawn in 2015-16. When
broken down this equates to 248 bus services being
reduced or altered whilst 124 bus services have been
withdrawn altogether.

Campaign for

Better Transport ¢ )

Total number of bus service cuts,
alterations and withdrawals
by local authority

All others

Surrey
County Council

Oxfordshire
County Council

Devon County
Council
15

Hertfordshire
County
Council

Somerset

County Council 7

Isle of Wight
Council

West Yorkshire

ITA METRO
Greater

Merseytravel ITA Manchester ITA

East Sussex Staffordshire
County Council County Council

Wales

In Wales responsibility for bus services is devolved
to the Welsh Assembly. The key findings from our
research in Wales are that in total £2.1 million has
been cut from supported bus funding in 2015-16 an
11.3 per cent reduction. Since 2010-11 a total of
£4.2 million has been cut from supported bus
services, a 20.6 per cent reduction overall. In Wales
a total of 53 bus services have been reduced, altered
or withdrawn in 2015-16. When broken down this
equates to 32 bus services being reduced or altered
whilst 21 have been withdrawn altogether.

All but five of the 22 Welsh local authorities have
made cuts to bus funding in the past year.

Total Welsh spend on supported buses
since 2010 (£m)

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

www.bettertransport.org.uk

England and Wales

Our research shows that this year 63 per cent of local
authorities in England and Wales have cut funding

for bus services, whilst 44 per cent have reduced or
withdrawn services. Since 2010-11 over 2,400 bus
services have been reduced, altered or withdrawn
altogether across England and Wales. Since 2010-11
the total cuts to supported bus services in England and
Wales is £78.1 million, a reduction of 25 per cent.

Cuts across England and Wales
2014/15 vs 2015/16 (£m)

Il 2015-16
2014-15
55.4

16.4

North North Yorks & East West Eastof South South Wales
East  West Humber Mids Mids England East  West

When comparing the budgets in the metropolitan
areas covered by the six Combined Authorities/
Passenger Transport Executives (PTEs)? and non-
metropolitan area budgets there are some interesting
results: since 2014-15 non-metropolitan areas have
cut in total 10.6 per cent from their supported bus
budgets whilst overall metropolitan areas have cut
4.6 per cent. Since 2010 non-metropolitan areas
have cut 25.3 per cent of bus funding whereas
metropolitan areas have cut 7.3 per cent of funding.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

Total number of bus service cuts,
alterations and withdrawals by region

. North East 5

| NomthWestez
_ Yorkshire & the Humber 19
- East Midlands 10

West Midlands 38
| Eastoffnglnd 57

Spend per person 2014/15 to 2015/16

£7.40
North East
£7.30
£8.50
North West
£7.86
Yorkshire & £6.36
The Humber

£6.17

£4.10
£3.76

East Midlands

£3.48
£311

West Midlands

£4.06
East of England

£4.58
South East

South West

£6.05
Wales

v wn
o o
I} I}
=3 =1
a o
NN
o o
— -_—
Sl »
L4
o wn

www.bettertransport.org.uk




4. Methodology

The information about funding for supported

buses and withdrawn routes has been collected

by contacting all 82 local transport authorities in
England as well as the six transport authorities
responsible for public transport within large

urban areas. We also contacted all 22 single-tier
authorities in Wales. Freedom of Information
requests under the Freedom of information Act
2000 were issued to all local authorities in England
and Wales and all combined authorities or PTEs.?

The information requested this year looked at the
previous financial year 2014-15 and this financial
year 2015-16. Due to some minor anomalies in
previous studies the questions we asked in the
freedom of information requests for this report
were more detailed to ensure that this survey is
;‘?nore comprehensive than those we have carried out
Sreviously. Some figures are slightly different from
0\‘previous reports, because some local authorities have
previously provided budgetary information rather than
reporting their actual spending. All local authorities
responded to our freedom of information requests.

Campaign for
Better Transport t)

5. Are buses in crisis?

Public funding for buses has seen reductions, year
on year, for the best part of a decade. As part of
the Coalition Government’s Spending Review in
2010 it was announced that government funding
to local authorities for transport would be cut by
28 per cent; and that BSOG - which provides direct
support for all bus services - would be cut by

20 per cent from 2012-13.

In addition, the Department for Transport (DfT)
changed the formula for funding local authorities for
the statutory free travel scheme for older people and
those with disabilities, and there have been further
changes by the Department for Communities and
Local Government.

Many local authorities have had their grants and
other income severely reduced over the past five
years and it is sadly inevitable that non-statutory
services like buses are often the first in line to be
lost. However, the performance of local authorities
in dealing with the cuts in funding has been a mixed
picture. In some cases there have been reductions
to services even though budgets for supported
services have increased slightly, in other cases local
authorities have managed to protect supported

bus services despite a cut in budget. Our two case
studies focussing on Nottingham City Council and
Cornwall Council highlight how urban and rural local
authorities are using innovation to ensure their bus
networks do not disappear.

Statistically it does not look good for buses. According
to the DfT’s annual bus statistics,* there were 4.65
billion passenger journeys on buses in England in
2014-15, meaning a fall of 27 million in the number

of bus journeys taken in England since last year.

Over the last decade in England outside of London,
local authority supported bus services mileage

has decreased by 55 million miles, and mileage on
commercial services has not compensated for this loss
rising by 13 million miles in the same time frame.

www.bettertransport.org.uk

Campaign for
Better Transport <t>

The percentage of bus mileage on supported services
(which we focus on in this report) has decreased from
24 per cent in 2009-10 to 17 per cent in 2014-15.°
This year marks the thirtieth anniversary since Royal
Assent of the 1985 Transport Act which de-regulated
bus services. Since then local bus passenger journeys
made outside of London have decreased by 37 per
cent. More than half of all bus passenger journeys
made in England in 2014-15 occurred in London which

has seen a 105 per cent increase in bus use since 1985.

It is clear from these statistics that when supported
bus services are cut, commercial operators are not
always able or willing to step in and fill the gaps left.
Even when commercial operators do take on formerly
tendered routes we are seeing cases where they then
pull out after some months because they have been
unable to make the services viable.

The current situation facing local bus services has
recently been highlighted by Oxfordshire County
Council. The council has just agreed to cut all funding
for supported bus services which may result in over
100 routes and services being cut, many serving rural
communities that will be effectively cut off if these
changes go through.

Most bus services are provided commercially and,

as noted already mileage here is rising. However, local
authority supported bus services, which are often
those meeting vital social and economic needs, are
clearly in crisis and if there are further cuts to the
BSOG and local authority transport funding this crisis
will deepen and will affect commercial services too.
Without a new approach this will hit hard the many
people and communities across England and Wales
who rely on buses for their everyday transport.

www.bettertransport.org.uk




Campaign for
Better Transport ¢

The table below highlights the level of supported bus
spending by region since 2010.

6. The cuts in buses -
the numbers

Every region apart from the North West has seen

The following tables aim to provide a clear picture a cut in spending over this time; the North West’s

of spending on supported bus services across England performance is due to a significant increase in
spending by Merseytravel Integrated Transport
Authority since 2010, which has made up for cuts
The table opposite shows which local authorities that by other authorities in the region.

have reported cuts in spending, with the percentage of

the cuts levied in 2015-16.

and Wales in 2015-16 and 2010-16.

Supported Bus Budgets (£)
2011/12 2012/13

2010/11 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

North East 20,448,790 20,243,874 20,201,269 19,443,496 19,201,675 18,955,405
North West 53,175,690 54,598,022 57,587,719 58,304,709 59,970,207 55,457,659
Yorkshire & Humber 46,977,558 42,358,666 38,630,086 36,500,195 33,654,100 32,606,296
East Midlands 28,678,202 24,191,248 22,473,358 22,448,526 18,613,943 17,068,376
West Midlands 25,611,840 24,308,450 22,527,920 21,910,910 19,510,581 17,464,631
East of England 34,843,222 30,335,659 28,080,997 26,378,232 23,810,091 21,357174

South East 51,039,646 47,826,479 45,562,333 44,793,066 39,598,009 34,080,814
South West 38,844,600 35,148,902 33,945,198 33,494,546 32,009,131 28,798,938

Wales Total 20,677,951 20,870,107 20,864,508 20,028,822 18,518,953 16,413,309
299,619,549 279,011,301 269,008,880 263,273,680 246,367,737 225,789,293

England Total

North East 246,270 1.28% North East £7.40 £7.30
North West 4,512,548 7.52% North West £8.50 £7.86
Yorkshire and the Humber 1,047,804 311% Yorkshire and the Humber £6.36 £6.17
East Midlands 1,545,567 8.30% East Midlands £4.10 £3.76
West Midlands 2,045,950 10.49% West Midlands £3.48 £311
East of England 2,452,917 10.30% East of England £4.06 £3.64
South East 5,517,195 13.93% South East £4.58 £3.94
South West 3,210,193 10.03% South West £6.04 £5.36
Wales Total 2,105,644  11.37% Wales £6.05 £5.36
England Total 20,578,444 8.35% England Average £5.49 £5.03
Hartlepool Council Luton Borough Council Hertfordshire £1,718,235
Stockton-on-Tees Council Southend-on-Sea Borough Council Surrey £1,535,000
Darlington Borough Council  Cardiff Council Lancashire £1,200,000
Blackpool Borough Council Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Nottinghamshire £1,100,000
Cumbria County Council Wrexham County Borough Council Bristol City Council £1,000,467
Stoke-on-Trent City Council East Sussex £956,000

www.bettertransport.org.uk

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢

Local Authority Percentage Cuts 2015-16

North East Brighton and Hove City Council 0.8%
Middlesbrough Council 61.75% Isle of Wight Council 4911%
Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council 3.52% Buckinghamshire County Council 6.89%
Durham County Council 119% East Sussex County Council 43.2%
Northumberland County Council 10.25% Hampshire County Council 11.93%
North West Kent County Council 8.29%
Halton Borough Council 3.05% Oxfordshire County Council 33.96%
Warrington Borough Council 9.22% Surrey County Council 17.03%
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 20.02% West Sussex County Council 20.68%
Cheshire East Council 273% South West
Cheshire West and Chester Council 9.36% Bristol City Council 25.66%
Lancashire County Council 9.6% North Somerset Council 0.42%
Greater Manchester ITA 13.95% South Gloucestershire Council 31.65%
Merseytravel ITA 1.33% Plymouth City Council 0.9%
Yorkshire and The Humber Torbay Borough Council 83.59%
North Yorkshire County Council 17.57% Bournemouth Borough Council 0%
South Yorkshire ITA 9.64% Swindon Borough Council 1.57%
East Midlands Wiltshire Council 16.22%
Derby City Council 34.56% Devon County Council 6.98%
Derbyshire County Council 2.86% Dorset County Council 0.69%
Leicestershire County Council 9.68% Gloucestershire County Council 17.36%
Nottinghamshire County Council 20.75% Somerset County Council 14.96%
West Midlands Wales
Herefordshire Council 31.25% Blaenau Gwent Council 1.78%
Staffordshire County Council 20% Bridgend County Borough Council 261%
Shropshire Council 3.89% Caerphilly County Borough Council 1.71%
Worcestershire County Council 11.03% Cardiff Council 100%
West Midlands ITA CENTRO 8.43% Carmarthenshire Council 10.4%
East of England Ceredigion Council 15.5%
Thurrock Borough Council 61.8% Conwy County Borough Council 4.34%
Bedford Borough Council 10.86% Denbighshire Council 39.62%
Central Bedfordshire Council 5.2% Flintshire Council 4.58%
Hertfordshire County Council 40.79% Isle of Anglesey Council 11.04%
Essex County Council 2.35% Monmouthshire Council 12.43%
Norfolk County Council 101% Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 100%
South East Newport City Council 14.02%
Medway Council 6.15% Pembrokeshire Council 8.33%
West Berkshire Council 2.69% Powys County Council 10.67%
Reading Borough Council 1116% Rhondda Cynon Taff Council 16.7%
Slough Borough Council 32.59% Swansea Council 0%
Milton Keynes Council 10.89% Torfaen Council 0%

www.bettertransport.org.uk




Campaign for Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ ) Better Transport <t>

7. Central government
funding and the Bus
Service Operators Grant

N BSOG is a grant paid by the DfT to all operators in
@ England of eligible local bus services and community
transport organisations, regardless of the type of
service they run.

BSOG is essentially a fuel subsidy as bus operators
are reimbursed for some of the excise duty paid on
the diesel consumed by running their services.
All eligible bus operators receive BSOG, though
T there are some variations in the level of rebate
@ for example, in Better Bus Areas.® BSOG is also paid
directly to local authorities for services that they

North West

support. Similar schemes operate in Scotland and in
3 Wales, albeit with important differences in the way In 2004/05, BSOG made up nine per cent ofoperating
2 in which the grant is paid. This fund amounted to revenue but in 2013/14 this proportion had fallen to
g Sy £230 million in 2014-15 in England. five per cent. Some of this decrease will be due to
© BSOG in London being devolved to Transport for
West Midlands ERSUSHENgiand Value for money London. As noted above, in the 2010 Spending Review
Wales 8:3% In October 2014, Greener Journeys, working with the Coalition Government announced a 20 per cent
KPMG LLP, assessed the value for money provided by reduction in BSOG. Since then it has remained
the current operating model. This research found that vulnerable — the Government considered making
every £1 spent on BSOG generates between £2.50 further reductions to BSOG in 2013 but decided
and £3.50 in wider economic benefits. Research by against more cuts following a joint campaign by bus
the Passenger Transport Executive Group (pteg) found operators, local authorities and campaign groups
that if BSOG was cut entirely bus fares would rise by including Campaign for Better Transport. BSOG
SouthiEast 10 per cent overnight and commercial buses would see remains at risk of funding cuts through the current
a 10 per cent cut in services.® 2015 Spending Review, the outcome of which is due

to be announced shortly.

If BSOG is protected in the Government’s forthcoming
Spending Review it must remain a ring-fenced fund

for local authorities so as not be absorbed in shrinking
council budgets.

South West

Yet these threats come at a time when the
Government is committed to reforming the structure
of the bus industry with a Buses Bill° promised.

Cuts in bus funding would undermine these reforms.
We suggest below some ways in which BSOG might be
reformed, but it is essential that any reform preserves
the current level of funding.

This map shows the regional
funding cuts in each English region
and overall in Wales in 2015/16.

www.bettertransport.org.uk www.bettertransport.org.uk




8. Case Study 1:
Urban areas -
Nottingham City Council

As we have highlighted in our previous Buses in
Crisis reports, local councils have faced near 50
per cent cuts in government funding since 2010
and are often criticised for then making cuts to
council services. However, many councils are
looking at new and innovative ways of managing
buses against this background of funding cuts.
Nottingham City Council is one of those councils
and Andy Gibbons, Head of Public Transport,
outlines below what Nottingham City Council is
doing to ensure buses continue to serve the needs
of the people of Nottingham.

All councils are facing severe budget problems and
are likely to do so for several years to come. Every
“Umonth we hear of another area drastically cutting
§Q its tendered bus service network. The Passenger
8Transport Executive Group predicts a reduction in
annual expenditure of £500 million over the four
years from 2010, allowing for inflation.

Recent reports by Greener Journeys demonstrate

the value of supported bus services in assisting

the growth agenda and delivering social mobility.
However, despite calculations of a benefit cost ratio
above 3:1, expenditure remains discretionary and
constantly vulnerable when councils are struggling to
maintain core statutory services, particularly in adult
and children’s services.

Nottingham is no different to any other authority in
facing such pressures. Despite a vibrant commercial
bus network, around 12 per cent of trips are fully
supported by the city council to the cost of around
£4 million pa. Patronage levels on these services

are either growing or static, with over seven million
trips pa. It is also estimated that some three million
pa commercial trips are also made because of
connecting subsidised services.

Better Transport )

In 2013, after three years of difficult cuts to other
areas, it was faced with a bleak choice - either cut
all tendered services and discounted travel schemes
or come up with an alternative self-funding model
within four years.

The ambitious self-funding option was chosen,
supported by local politicians with a good track
record in backing innovation such as the local
workplace parking levy.

The overall package of measures uses a mix of the
following approaches:

* Invest-to-save, often using successful external
capital bidding processes

* Income generation from proven areas of local
excellence

« Rethink and deliver in a completely different way

* Develop and build on strong partnership.

These are the ten work-strands that Nottingham
City Council is focussing on:

« Identify providers of specialist bus services — works
buses, college shuttles, school and health services

—and examine their precise needs. Work with each
provider in flexible open partnerships, amending
existing council tendered services to incorporate
these other movements. Use capital funds to
purchase new accessible buses, together with
bespoke ticketing and information systems to
fully merge such movements into the mainstream
network. In return, get the partner to contribute
scarce on-going revenue funds.

« Use existing external grant opportunities to convert
services from diesel to fully electric. We are now
half way through converting our in house fleet of
60 buses to fully electric, with a network of
charging points across the conurbation. With a 6p
per km grant on electric buses and fuel duty rebate
no longer being available for new diesel subsidised
services, this gives savings of over £15,000
per bus per year. It's an extremely difficult project,
but the rewards are substantial.

*+ Work closely with local community transport
organisations to encourage them to take on tendered
service work. Bolster their boards with greater
professionalism, assist them in becoming financially
stable through advice on bidding opportunities and
bus operations. Redesign local bus service routes
and timetables to dovetail with their other transport
obligations eg dial a ride.

« Use smartcard datasets to identify which users of
mainstream bus services also use costly specialist
transport provision (taxis to hospital, special
needs schools or day centres). Look at ways of
amending the mainstream network to replace
this expensive alternative provision, backed up by
clever independent travel training tools and smart
discounted ticketing.

« Redesign tendered service routes to incorporate
car parks and park and ride sites — for connections
not just to the city centre but to other congested
hot spots such as events, universities and hospitals.
Truncate some services to feed high frequency bus
and tram routes in the suburbs, making them free to
use in order to avoid the interchange fare penalty.

« Bid for grant opportunities and invest in large scale
integrated electronic information and ticketing
schemes. Get an ongoing income stream from
transport operators for the commercial use of these
systems. Substantially improve passenger waiting
facilities with capital grants, allowing increased bus
station departure fees to be applied.

* Introduce bike hire from public transport
interchange points to non-central employment sites
using external grant money, integrated or free with
integrated ticket products. Aimed at sites where
the majority of staff are mobile and young, this can
be a way reducing bus capacity whilst providing
more flexible provision in terms of operating times.
Extend bike hire to replace inter-site college and
works movements and to include electric bikes.

Better Transport >

« Ensure developer funding opportunities to support
bus services are pushed and promoted from an
early stage in any potential development proposal.
Lock these in with temporary discounted ticketing
promotion, backed up with individual journey
plans. Work very closely with planning and traffic
management officers to embed the bus at the
heart of these developments, rather than an
afterthought. Ensure there is a paved walk link
and safe crossing to the nearest bus stop, with a
roadside staff entrance rather than one only from
the site’s car park

Invest in smartcard and administrative ticketing
systems to reduce fraud and running costs
associated with discounted ticketing schemes.

Use complex data analysis to determine local
factors used in negotiations relating to operator
payments. Spread costs of smartcard systems
across other commercial ticketing schemes, through
an integration of the retail network on offer.

Continually design-in bus access to new road
schemes, ensuring priority is given particularly

in the city centre and on major radials. Bid for
capital funds for works which improve reliability
and reduce bus journey times, backed up by on-
street and bus lane CCTV enforcement. Use strong
partnerships, land use planning, retail, leisure and
parking policies to maintain city centre vibrancy
and the continued presence of commercially
provided bus services. Not only has this reduced
the need for more supported services, it has

even led to the commercialisation of previously
supported airport and university services.

Two years on and over £2 million per annum savings
have been made. Nottingham is now half way to
having a self-funded high quality, low emission
tendered service network, maintaining levels of
accessibility at 2010 levels. The journey so far has
been difficult, risky and reliant on continued support
from key partners. However, compared with the
alternative of a downward spiral of irreversible cuts,
it has been far more interesting and uplifting. Andy
Gibbons, Nottingham City Council



9. Case Study 2:
Rural areas - Cornwall

Cornwall has recently reached a devolution deal
with the Government and as part of this has been
promised greater powers over its bus services,
which will be delivered through the Buses Bill.

As a basis for these powers it has recently set out
a strategy looking at all modes of public transport
across the county. Coverage of the Buses Bill has
focused on metropolitan areas, but rural areas
must also reap some benefits. Here Lesley Barlow,
Transport Planner from Cornwall Council, outlines
their plans for the future.

The vision for public transport in Cornwall is one
where there is a modern, attractive, integrated,
high quality network that is affordable and easily
;JU understood. This will see the needs of the customer
© at the heart of a public transport system that
o provides access to services and better meets the
needs of the local economy. We know that many
people do not currently see the bus or train as a

Better Transport )

viable alternative to the car due to the length of
journey times, its inability to connect with other
services and the perception of unreliability.

It is therefore imperative that we invest in public
transport to make it work for the people of Cornwall.

Frequent and high quality rail services are seen as
a key priority to addressing growth and improving
our connectivity. This has been reflected in the
importance that we have given to working with
the rail industry and our history of significant

rail investment, spending £36.5 million on rail
improvement schemes since 2002. This has seen
patronage figures for Cornwall grow by 3.8 million
since 2000 (or 141 per cent). This change has been
delivered through the re-dualling of the mainline
between Probus and Burngullow, facilitating
improved services and timetabling, a passing loop
and half hourly frequency service between Truro
and Falmouth, as well as a programme of station
improvements through our Riviera Project, all
with the aim of creating a rail network that people
want to use.

Having seen how people have responded to

this change, we were keen to work with the

train operator to see a more frequent mainline
service of two trains per hour. This will deliver

a huge step change in service provision and
accessibility. This proposal formed a key element
of Cornwall’s Growth Deal bid, allowing the
necessary re-signalling works to facilitate this
improved frequency. The proposal also included
the refurbishment and capacity improvements to
the sleeper service and the relocation of the heavy
maintenance depot to Long Rock, near Penzance.
We are working to deliver these improvements to
quality, capacity and frequency by December 2018
to coincide with the new Hitachi AT300s, which will
be operated by Great Western Railways.

It is crucial that we build on our recent success
and maintain the momentum of the last decade
in Cornwall through the delivery of a sustained
programme of public transport investment and
improvement. We do not want to see a two-
tier public transport system in Cornwall where
rail services are better provided and better used

Better Transport >

than our bus services. A customer focused public
transport network is at the heart of Cornwall’s
plan to deliver a single, integrated public transport
system. The network will integrate routes and
timetabling for buses with local rail services, along
with the provision of high quality, accessible and
integrated travel information. This will improve
the offering not only to existing passengers, but
significantly improves its appeal to non-users. In
this way we will increase public transport patronage
on bus and rail to bring about an upturn in revenue
making services and make the network as a whole
more financially viable.

We have worked successfully with operators over
the last 12 months to stabilise the network and
services following the loss of one of our main
operators and we hope to continue this partnership
approach in achieving a customer focused network.
The Buses Bill provides an opportunity for all of us
to review how we deliver bus services in a rural area
and ensure that they are sustainable and that they
meet the needs of Cornwall today and in the future.
Lesley Barlow, Cornwall Council.




R e T L. |

mmnE T |

10. Bus fares: a story of
above inflation increases

Bus users are now facing significant bus fare increases
as well as cuts to their services. The DfT recently
released statistics' which show the rate of bus fare
increases over the last decade. Most of the data is
derived from the DfT’s survey of bus operators.

In the past year up to March 2015, bus fares in England
increased by 3.3 per cent, faster than the Retail Prices
Index (RPI) rate of inflation which had an average of
0.9 per cent in 2014-15. Between March 2010 and
March 2015, the average annual percentage change in
bus fares was 4.5 per cent, while the average annual
rate of inflation over that period was 3.1 per cent.

Better Transport >

or hear anythipg
suspicious |

" tell our staff or §h
police immediatel]

3 %

PO ;
Trust your senses

MAYOR
OF LONDON

Local bus fares in England increased by 61 per cent
on average between March 2005 and March 2015.
Bus fares have risen at a faster rate in metropolitan
areas (71 per cent) than in non-metropolitan areas
(44 per cent). The Retail Prices Index has risen by
35 per cent over the same period, which means that
bus fares have risen significantly in real terms.

Operator revenue

In 2013/14, the total estimated operating revenue
for local bus services in England was £5.6 billion.
Passenger fare receipts made up the largest
proportion of operating revenue: £3.3 billion or

58 per cent of operating revenue. Revenue from
passenger receipts has increased on average each
year by 1.4 per cent in real terms between 2004/05
and 2013/14.

Operating revenue from concessionary fare
reimbursement has more than doubled over the
same period from £500 million to over £1 billion.
This increase reflects the wider coverage of the
concessionary travel scheme (moving from a local
authority to a national scheme), increased eligibility
and a larger proportion of elderly people in the
wider population.

Why bus fares matter

Bus cuts and rising fares are not simply matters of
inconvenience. For many people without access to a
car, buses are the only way they can travel to health
services, colleges and places of work. Poor bus provision
and high fares magnifies social problems, obstructs

the delivery of other public services and holds back
economic recovery.

People from low income families are most likely to
rely on buses to get around. They spend a higher
proportion of their income on bus travel and struggle
to access the best fare deals. Statistically low income

Better Transport >

families are less likely to have a car. Some children
from poor families are put at further disadvantage
because their parents cannot afford bus fares to get
them to colleges and services. Children from low
income families are at risk of poverty if affordable
transport is not available.

Fare increases and bus cuts are undoubtedly hitting
some of the poorest families in the country hardest
and the Buses Bill provides an opportunity to
introduce simplified and affordable ‘Oyster style’
smart ticketing. Oyster is equipped with daily price
capping which automatically calculates the cheapest
fare for all the journeys made in a day. There is no
large upfront charge (just £5 deposit) and passengers
are able to pay-as-they-go, topping up their card with
whatever they can afford.



11. Conclusion

The context of our fifth report on supported bus
services is again one of sustained decline. If the
current Spending Review leads to further cuts to
the central government funding stream for buses,
(BSOG), the immediate future for buses and, more
importantly, their users is increasingly bleak.

This report also does not account for current live
proposals by local authorities to cut funding for
buses and there is the very real prospect of further
substantial cuts to come in the next year, with many
areas, urban as well as rural, consulting on drastic
reductions in funding and services. For example,
Oxfordshire County Council is currently proposing
to cut all £4.5 million from its supported bus
funding, which may include bus routes through the
Prime Minister’s constituency, Witney. Other areas
;?onsidering major cuts include North Yorkshire,
L%\/hich is looking at saving a further £500,000 from
8}5 bus funding.

The Government’s Buses Bill offers some hope,
but as already noted, the reforms it promises will
only succeed if there is funding to go with it.

The Government has made transport and
infrastructure a priority in this Parliament -
proposed public spending on road infrastructure in
this Parliament already totals over £30 billion, for
example — but it needs to extend this to provide
sufficient funding for buses and to treat this as a
national issue. As already noted, bus services are
treated as a purely local issue, ignoring the national
consequences of a decline in funding and services.

More than ever a new approach is needed to support
buses and local public transport. Campaign for
Better Transport has been developing ideas for this
new approach in discussion with many people in and
around the bus industry, including operators, local

authorities, passenger groups, researchers and others.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ )

www.bettertransport.org.uk

12. Recommendations

The Buses Bill

As already noted, the Government promises reform
of the bus industry through a Buses Bill, expected
to be introduced early in 2016. The Bill is intended
to complement the Cities and Local Government
Devolution Bill, which will give new executive powers
to cities like Manchester with the creation of new
directly elected Mayors. Under the Buses Bill the
mayors, and other authorities like Cornwall where
devolution deals are agreed, will then have the
powers to implement ‘London style’ franchising
over local buses.

Franchising powers

The Buses Bill is expected to have a central focus on
providing franchising powers for local authorities, so
they can plan networks properly and introduce simple,
unified fares structures. The Department for Transport
(DfT) is consulting on giving local authorities a

wide range of tools to achieve these ends, including
strengthening partnerships (see below), but the Buses
Bill should also include the ability to franchise services
where the authority judges that this is the best

way to achieve this. Franchising need not be solely

the London ‘gross cost’ model, but can encompass
other approaches including ‘net cost’ tendering with
stronger operator involvement.

Strengthening partnerships

Reform to bus services does not always require new
legislation and there are many examples of bus
operators and local authorities working very well
together (see Nottingham City Council case study
page 14). In many areas passengers and communities
are frustrated that simple, but important
improvements such as simplified fares structures
(multi operator and multi modal ticketing), better
marketing of public transport networks as a whole
and better and longer term planning of networks are
taking too long to be introduced.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

Franchising may not be the desired model for bus
service delivery in all areas and that’s why it’s
important for the Buses Bill to also strengthen
regulation around partnerships. The DfT is suggesting
this could be done by devolving bus registration
powers from Traffic Commissioners to local
authorities, and also some competition powers.

This would have the benefit of bringing together the
different regulations governing bus services so the
local authority can, for example, apply specific criteria
to the granting of registrations such as participation
in multi operator smart ticketing.

Rural areas

While this bill has a focus on urban areas, rural areas
that have been hit hard by cuts to supported bus
services must also benefit from it.

One approach for the Buses Bill to help rural bus
services would be to require local authorities to
conduct effective assessments of need for public
transport in their areas. Many local authorities

are simply not doing this, meaning that when
withdrawals of tendered services are implemented
often whole communities are being cut off. Such

a requirement for authorities to show they have
considered this need will then ensure there is better
strategic planning of tendered services and will allow
a broader view than simply focusing on short term
metrics like the cost of subsidy per passenger.

The Buses Bill is due to be published almost exactly
30 years after the 1985 Transport Act de-regulated
buses outside London. This Bill is an opportunity for
bus users to see rapid improvements to their services
and Campaign for Better Transport supports the
development of legislation which will enable this.

www.bettertransport.org.uk




Fully funded Total Transport
programme

A key recommendation from our last Buses in Crisis
report was for the Government to introduce pilots for
‘Total Transport’ schemes. The idea was developed in
a 2011 report from pteg' and follows practice in other
countries. The aim is to identify and bring together
the bespoke transport services commissioned by
different public bodies for example inter-hospital link
services, social services transport to take older people
to day centres, transport for taking staff to and from
prisons, and transport for children with special needs
to and between schools. Universities and colleges also
commission or run services.

Such separate commissioning wastes significant

funding and management time within these services

— it also abstracts funding and passengers from

mainstream bus services. One county has estimated

that the total public funding for transport services in

its area is around £60 million; another has estimated
gthat £2.4 million is spent in part of one district
mcouncil area, of which just £400,000 is accounted for
by traditional supported bus services.

Campaign for
Better Transport <t>

Encouragingly the Government began a trial of Total
Transport Projects in early 2015 with a £7.6 million
fund. The Total Transport Pilot Fund competition

was launched on 14 January 2015 and 42 bids were
received from local authorities in England. In total

37 local authorities were awarded funds for various
projects. These projects include a range of feasibility
studies and other groundwork, as well as a number of
pilot schemes to test the real world scope for service
integration in particular areas. The pilots will run for a
maximum of two years. While they are running project
teams will be encouraged to share what they learn
with each other, and at the end of the two years each
scheme will submit a detailed report on the results of
delivering integration to the DfT.

Initial reports from the winning local authorities are
very encouraging. We are now almost six months
into the two year pilots and we recommend that
the Government builds on these by establishing a
fully funded Total Transport programme, that brings
together different central government resources.

www.bettertransport.org.uk

Connectivity fund

In the last Buses in Crisis report we called for the
Government to introduce a ‘Connectivity Fund'.
We renew our calls for this fund to be introduced
as a means of giving buses a long-term stable
financial future.

This fund would build on the Total Transport
programme by pooling spending from across
government and ringfencing it for local transport.

The proposal for this fund was originally made in

a report™ from the transport body pteg, entitled
‘Making the Connections’. It suggested that the
Connectivity Fund should be established by bringing
together the existing BSOG fund (around £230 million
in 2014-15) with additional ‘top slicing’ from 11 other
government departments that benefit from having
good bus networks, including the Department for
Work and Pensions, the Department of Health, the
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs
and the Department for Education, into a ring-fenced
pot for local government to support bus services.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

In order to put funding levels on a sustainable long-
term footing, and to stem the circle of decline in
supported local bus networks, pteg estimated that
the Connectivity Fund should aim to provide £500
million in bus funding.

According to pteg the Connectivity Fund would
contribute to key national objectives:

- Help flexible and productive labour markets
by enhancing accessibility to key employment,
education and population centres, including to
new development areas

- Promote economic growth by enabling and
promoting growth in the most productive
employment centres outside London by reducing
congestion and linking more workers to jobs

- Help create full employment by encouraging and
enabling more people into work while making work
pay: affordability and availability of bus services is
especially vital for low paid workers

- Tackle the cost of living crisis by ensuring that
transport remains affordable and cheaper housing
is increasingly accessible

- Improve health and well-being by encouraging
active travel and greater social interaction, especially
amongst children, young people and the elderly

- Cutting carbon emissions and improving air quality
by promoting modal shift and reducing congestion

The Connectivity Fund will in turn pay for itself
by significantly reducing the cost of other public
services and by supporting sustained economic
growth. It could also improve the financial
sustainability of bus networks themselves, for
example investing in removing bottlenecks on the
road network it would allow buses to operate at
higher speeds, more reliably and thereby cover
more mileage with the same resources.

www.bettertransport.org.uk




13. Recommendations for
the Welsh Government

The financial situation for Welsh local authority
supported bus services is increasingly worrying.
This year the cuts to local bus services in Wales
have been more severe than in England and

urgent action should be taken by the Welsh
Government to prevent further funding cuts and
Welsh communities being cut off. Alongside our
recommendations for the UK Government, here we
suggest three key recommendations for the Welsh
Government to adopt.

Total Transport Wales

Following the emerging success of the Total Transport

pilots across 37 English local authorities the Welsh

Government should adopt their own Total Transport
Echeme. This approach will be of particular benefit to
@nore rural areas, bringing together different transport
tRervices in an area.

Such separate commissioning of transport wastes
significant funding and management time and takes
funding and passengers from mainstream public
transport services. So why not bring them all together?
Total Transport allows existing resources to be
allocated and coordinated more efficiently resulting in
services for passengers that are more effective.

There are good examples in the Netherlands of where
Total Transport has been used successfully to improve
public transport for urban and rural areas. The results
and evidence are already starting to come in from the
current English Total Transport pilots and case studies
and examples of best practice will be available for the
Welsh Government to use and adopt accordingly.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ )

Welsh Connectivity Fund

The Welsh Government should similarly consider
its own Connectivity Fund, pooling resources from
government departments that have a stake in buses
and ring-fencing it for local transport.

Welsh bus reforms

The Welsh Government should also seize the
momentum from Westminster’s Buses Bill and push
forward with its own bus reforms, including options
for franchising and for enhanced and strengthened
partnerships. Any reforms need to build on the success
of the TrawsCymru long distance network and the
Bwcabus demand responsive services.

There is an opportunity for the Welsh Government in
the next few years to link bus reforms to rail devolution
and improvements. The Welsh Government is set to
get control over the Wales & Borders rail franchise in
2018 and it should link bus reforms to this as Cornwall
Council have highlighted in their case study on page 16.

Buses for Welsh tourism

Buses are often the only practical option for tourists
including visitors from overseas, who have no cars

to reach many of Wales’ most beautiful places.

Their choices are reduced by cuts to rural bus services.
Sundays are a particularly important day of the week
for day trips and many visitors who stay overnight
will need a bus back to the nearest main railway
station on Sundays.

www.bettertransport.org.uk

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

The importance of buses to rural tourism economies
has been recognised in Swansea, where the Gower
Explorer bus network has improved access to

the peninsula. The Swansea Rural Development
Partnership (EU and Welsh Government funded)
supported Sunday Gower bus services from 2011 to
2014, with clear benefits for local tourism businesses.
In 2015, Visit Wales provided funding for one year.
Approximately 38 per cent of passengers on Sunday
Gower services in 2015 were from overseas.

The Welsh Government should undertake an audit

of public transport access to key tourism areas,
including access points along the Wales Coast Path, to
identify damaging gaps in bus provision and estimate
the potential economic losses arising from the gaps.
Funding should be made available, for example
through Visit Wales, to close the gaps and to help
local authorities to maintain or improve existing
provision in tourism areas (including Sunday services).

Where services are available, they should be
coordinated with rail services (especially where
service frequency is low) and marketed as the most
environmentally friendly way of reaching sensitive
locations, such as National Parks and Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty.

www.bettertransport.org.uk




 Hairdressing £4

Tel 741121 -

14. Next steps

These three approaches - the Buses Bill, the Total
Transport programme and the Connectivity Fund -
should be linked together into a long-term vision and
strateqgy for public transport. The new Government
has an opportunity to really focus on the ‘everyday
transport’ that people across England and Wales
value so much.

In the immediate term the BSOG must be protected
from further cuts in the Comprehensive Spending
Review, and in the longer term new approaches must
be seized upon, such as the Connectivity Fund to take
buses onto a more secure financial footing and the
Total Transport programme to encourage smarter
spending by transport commissioners.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ )

This report has found that with the current funding
structure cuts in local authority supported bus
services are at crisis point. If nothing changes many
of these services will cease to exist entirely, leaving
thousands of people isolated and unable to get to the
key facilities and services they need. These people are
often the most vulnerable in our society who value
and need our buses the most.

The Government must recognise that buses are

of national importance and are not simply a local
issue to be devolved of responsibility by Whitehall.
The time has come for politicians to recognise the
importance of buses, as they do for other transport,
and ensure they have the funding they need and
ultimately deserve.

www.bettertransport.org.uk

References

1.

DfT - Annual Bus Statistics (England) 2014-15:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-
ending-march-2015.pdf

Passenger Transport Executive -
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Passenger_transport_executive
FOI requests were submitted via What do they know
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/user/martin_abrams
DfT - Annual Bus Statistics (England) 2014-15:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-
ending-march-2015.pdf

DfT - Annual Bus Statistics (England) 2014-15:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-
ending-march-2015.pdf

Better Bus Areas -
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/bus-services-
grants-and-funding#better-bus-areas

10.

1.

12.

Campaign for
Better Transport ¢ >

Greener Journeys, Costs and benefits of the Bus Service
Operators Grant, 2014

pteg — Working together to cut costs and do more for less:
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/
working%20together%20slideset%202015%20FINAL.pdf
DfT Buses Bill Workshop reform document 2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/462225/buses-reform-workshops-
background.pdf

DfT - Annual Bus Statistics (England) 2014-15:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-
ending-march-2015.pdf

Total Transport - pteg -
http://pteg.net/system/files/20110627ptegTotalTransport
forWebFINAL.pdf

Pteg — Making the Connections
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/10210%20
Pteg%20Benefits%200f%20the%20bus%20web%20
FINAL.pdf

Research and editorial team: Peter Wood and Martin Abrams for Campaign for Better Transport
Image credits: page 13: Yorkshire Bus by Clive A Brown on Flickr; page 25: Cardiff Bus by Jeremy Segrott on Flickr.

www.bettertransport.org.uk



https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Passenger_transport_executive
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/user/martin_abrams
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/bus-services-grants-and-funding#better-bus-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/bus-services-grants-and-funding#better-bus-areas
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/working%20together%20slideset%202015%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/working%20together%20slideset%202015%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/462225/buses-reform-workshops-background.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/462225/buses-reform-workshops-background.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/462225/buses-reform-workshops-background.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464292/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2015.pdf
http://pteg.net/system/files/20110627ptegTotalTransportforWebFINAL.pdf
http://pteg.net/system/files/20110627ptegTotalTransportforWebFINAL.pdf
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/10210%20Pteg%20Benefits%20of%20the%20bus%20web%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/10210%20Pteg%20Benefits%20of%20the%20bus%20web%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/10210%20Pteg%20Benefits%20of%20the%20bus%20web%20FINAL.pdf

Campaign for
Better Transport <t>

Campaign for Better Transport’s vision is a country where communities have affordable transport that improves
quality of life and protects the environment. Achieving our vision requires substantial changes to UK transport
policy which we aim to achieve by providing well-researched, practical solutions that gain support from both
decision-makers and the public.

info@bettertransport.org.uk.

Phone: 020 7566 6480

Fax: 020 7566 6493
www.bettertransport.org.uk
www.facebook.com/bettertransport

www.twitter.com/saveourbuses_uk

16 Waterside, 44-48 Wharf Road, London N1 7UX

Registered Charity 1101929. Company limited by guarantee, registered in England and Wales: 4943428

Better transport, better lives



http://www.bettertransport.org.uk/
https://www.facebook.com/bettertransport
https://twitter.com/saveourbuses_uk

This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 Heath Williams, Managing Director, Arriva (Southern Counties)
	Heath Williams - TsQs
	Prof David Begg. The Impact of Congestion on Bus Passengers

	2 Ruth Goudie, Senior Transportation Officer, Canterbury Quality Bus Partnership
	Ruth Goudie - TsQs

	3 Stephen Joseph, CEO, Campaign for Better Transport
	Stephen Joseph - TsQs
	Buses in crisis report - CBT


